# Couples and Childhood Adversity: A Prevention Science Approach to Exploring Resilience with Variable-Centered and Person-Centered Methods

by

Erin Marie Cooper

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Auburn University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Auburn, Alabama August 5, 2023

Keywords: couples, relationship quality, adversity, ACEs, resiliency

Copyright 2023 by Erin Marie Cooper

Approved by

Francesca Adler-Baeder, Chair, Professor of Human Development and Family Science Julianne McGill, Assistant Clinical Professor of Human Development and Family Science Mallory Lucier-Greer, Associate Professor of Human Development and Family Science Elif Dede Yildirim, Data Scientist at National Institutes of Health

#### Abstract

Contemporary research on couple relationship education (CRE) goes beyond testing the effectiveness of CRE for the average participant and assuming a "one size fits all" approach. Scholars acknowledge the complexity of the CRE field, and recent research questions center on exploring effectiveness of CRE for specific subpopulations, tests of demographic moderators of CRE outcomes, and prospective process of change models. Rooted in prevention science principles with a risk and resiliency emphasis, this dissertation combines this framework for recent CRE research with a trauma-informed lens. Although recent reports suggest that participants of federally funded CRE programs report higher rates of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) than samples previously studied by the CDC, little attention has been given to the potential influence ACEs have on CRE participants' individual and relational functioning before and after CRE. Even fewer studies have explored resiliency factors that may offset or outweigh risks due to ACEs while also assessing within-couple associations with an interdependence theory lens. The goals of this two-study dissertation were to (1) explore the concept of cumulative couple ACEs history, (2) advance the understanding of whether and how cumulative couple ACEs influence CRE program experiences for self and partner, (3) identify couple level risk and resiliency typologies in a diverse sample of couples using levels of two types of ACEs and two resiliency factors, and (4) determine how such typologies are linked to other sample characteristics including individual and relational functioning.

The first study takes a trauma-informed approach to the growing body of literature on dyadic processes of change after CRE and the influence of ACEs on CRE participants' experiences among diverse populations. With a sample of 409 couples, this study first tested whether improvements in couple relationship skills (self-care, conflict management, partner care)

immediately after a CRE program predicted improvements in one's own and one's partner's relationship quality one year later. Immediate post-program improvements in self-care, conflict management, and partner care predicted later improvements in relationship quality for oneself, but not one's partner. Additionally, this study tested whether skills-related processes of change are the same regardless of cumulative couple ACEs. The only moderation evidence indicated that the association between improvements in conflict management and later improvements in relationship quality was weaker for participants with more cumulative couple ACEs. Process of change models used in the first study inform CRE practice by identifying specific program elements that underlie the promotion of healthy couple relationships. Self-care, conflict management, and partner care were validated as skills that are emphasized in CRE. Additionally, combining process of change models with moderation informs CRE efforts within populations with diverse levels of ACEs. The current dissertation's findings suggest that couples with more ACEs experience benefits from CRE; however, they may need additional education and skills practice in conflict management.

To further illuminate the diversity within CRE participants, the second study took an unprecedented, person-centered, couple-focused approach to investigating ACE-related risk and resiliency. Study 2 expanded on the concept of cumulative couple ACEs and explored latent risk and resiliency profiles in 921 couples as indicated by both partners' ACEs, a novel measure of couple-focused mindfulness, and romantic self-efficacy. This study distinguished two types of ACEs - deprivation and threat dimensions - to offer new information about how the distinct dimensions may be differentially linked to individual and relational functioning. Six couple risk and resilience profiles were revealed and no one profile contained the majority of the sample, demonstrating the diversity of profiles. Two profiles were expected based on existing findings

about the negative link between ACEs and relational functioning: *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* and *High Couple ACEs and Challenged*. We also distinguished two couple profiles that are unmatched in their levels of ACEs. One such profile, *High/Low ACEs and Resilient*, was characterized by partners' equally moderate levels of resiliency factors, despite one partner having high levels of ACEs while the other had low levels of ACEs. Participants in the other high/low ACEs profile, *Incongruent: High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient*, reported expected levels of resiliency factors—the partner with more ACEs reported lower levels of resiliency factors, while the partner with fewer ACEs reported higher levels of resiliency factors. Lastly, two unexpected profiles emerged: *Low Couple ACEs but Challenged* and *High Couple ACEs but Resilient*.

Study 2 also explored differences between couple risk and resiliency groups in demographic characteristics, relationship functioning, and mental health functioning. Exploring differences in demographic characteristics and functioning between the profiles allowed us to deepen the understanding of the types of people who comprise the profiles and what their needs may be in a CRE program. The highest functioning profile was unsurprisingly the *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* profile. The following profiles reported moderate levels of functioning consistent with overall average levels of functioning: *High/Low ACEs and Resilient*, *Incongruent: High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient*, and *High Couple ACEs but Resilient*. The *Low Couple ACEs but Challenged* and *High Couple ACEs and Challenged* profiles reported low levels of functioning, on average. Tests of demographic differences between risk and resiliency profiles also reveal information about the makeup of the profiles. For example, the *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* profile had fewer parents, while the *Low Couple ACEs but Challenged* had the highest proportion of parents. Additionally, the majority of the *High Couple ACEs but*  *Resilient* profile were African American/Black. Reasons for and implications of demographic differences among profiles are also discussed. This study adds to basic research on ACEs and resiliency and informs practice of community-based programming for couples.

#### Acknowledgements

"What we know matters, but who we are matters more." - Dr. Brené Brown

I am so grateful to have been surrounded by people who enriched my life both professionally and personally during my time in graduate school. I have learned from, trained alongside, and collaborated with many knowledgeable, skilled, and compassionate people. My graduate studies have been a time of great professional and personal growth which could not have been done without the support from this community. No matter where my journey takes me beyond The Loveliest Village on the Plains, the following people have touched me for a lifetime by giving me their time, knowledge, support, and love.

First to my committee, I said this in nearly every email correspondence, and I hope it felt sincere every time—I very much appreciate your willingness to serve on my committee. I don't take for granted the time, focus, and energy it takes to review and provide thoughtful feedback. I thank each of you from the bottom of my heart. To my major professor, Francesca, I am so grateful to have trained with you. You have a profound impact on each of us that sit in your office and around the tables that you lead. You lead by example with the high-quality work you produce and the legacy you have spearheaded throughout Alabama with AHMREI. Your genuine compassion for all people, those that you work closely with and those that you serve through work with AHMREI and the CTF Evaluation, shines bright. It drew me to you and to AHMREI and has continued to inspire me throughout my training. You demonstrate your value of holistic wellness not only through AHMREI's community-based efforts, but also in your workplace leadership and in your personal life. I am so grateful to have had a doctoral advisor who practices what she preaches. Thank you for challenging me in my studies while also providing the support and compassion needed for me to flourish.

Julianne, thank you for your feedback and support at each step along the way. You have also given me an example of leadership I aspire to. I admire your ability to combine your highquality program implementation and evaluation skills with your knowledge of and compassion for the folks in the communities we serve. I am forever grateful for all of times I said, "Can I pop in for a sec?" and forty-five minutes later I'm finally leaving your office. Thank you for that time. You have been my go-to person for bouncing wild ideas, brainstorming research methods, and seeking support in navigating academic culture. Thank you for your supportive and compassionate leadership in my GRA role at AHMREI. I so appreciate your openness and authenticity that allowed us to develop a relationship that always felt like a rock and safe place for me during graduate school.

Elif, I so much appreciate the hours you spent teaching me advanced methods. I truly admire your knowledge and skills. Your commitment to continuously learning and improving your skills to enhance the field inspires me, and I hope to do the same. You challenged me in ways no other professor has and empowered me to see my methods potential. I know you did not have to remain on my committee as you transitioned to your new position, so I do not take your time and service on my committee for granted. I thank you from the bottom of my heart. Mallory, I so much appreciate your willingness to jump on board after I had already proposed my QE project. Your feedback and suggestions have been so valuable. I have always felt connected through our similar backgrounds and shared interests, and I am looking forward to your more direct mentorship in my next role. I'd also like to express my sincerest thanks to my university reader, Dr. Linda Gibson-Young of the College of Nursing for her time and service to this process.

I'd like to thank AHMREI and CTF Evaluation staff and students, past and present, who have become my best friends and family over the last seven years. You have been my cheerleaders, celebrating with me during the good times, and my stability and support during tumultuous times. I'd like to thank all the friends who I met in this graduate program as students. We truly could not do it without each other's support, and I cannot wait to see the amazing things we do. My Auburn family has been such a blessing to me, and I know I wouldn't be the person I am today without your friendship and unconditional love. I'd also like to thank my friends and family who have been hanging in there with me since before my graduate school journey began. Thank you for your support and love this whole time.

As a first-generation college student, this accomplishment is especially meaningful for me and my parents. My mother left this world when I was just 19, shortly after I successfully launched from the nest into college. Her biggest wish before she passed was to see me graduate high school. I wish I could hear her voice say how proud she is and express my deep love and gratitude for her. Instead, she has been by my side in spirit during this journey. Mama, thank you for embodying love, patience, compassion for others, strength, grace, persistence, and grit and instilling those qualities in me. They have each been pillars supporting my PhD journey. To my sweet dad, thank you for your unwavering love and support. When you promised to help get me through college, I'm sure you weren't expecting me to be here for so long. Thank you for keeping your promise anyway. You are a wonderful father and glowing example of resilience. I am very proud of my accomplishments, and know that I am even prouder to be your daughter.

# Table of Contents

Abstract
Acknowledgements
List of Tables
List of Figures
Chapter 1 – General Introduction
ACE-Related Risk and Resiliency 15
Promoting Healthy Relationships among Diverse Populations with Couple Relationship
Education16
The Current Dissertation
Chapter 2 – Exploring Dyadic Processes of Change after Couple Relationship Education and
considering Adverse Childhood Experiences
Introduction18
Theoretical Framework
Couple Relationship Education
Adverse Childhood Experiences and Adult Couple Relationships
The Current Study
Methods
Procedure
Participants
Measures
Analytic Plan
Results

Preliminary Results	36
Testing Significant Improvements in Self-Care, Conflict Management, and	1
Partner Care as Predictors of Later Improvements in Relationship Quality	for
Oneself and One's Partner	37
Testing Whether Couple ACEs Moderate Couple Skills-Related Mechanis	ms of
Change	39
Discussion	41
Improvements in Conflict Management, Partner Care, and Self-Care Drive	;
Improvements in Relationship Quality	42
The Role of ACEs in Skills-Related Mechanisms of Change	47
Practical Implications	49
Limitations	51
Future Directions and Conclusions	52
Chapter 3 – ACE Dimensions, Couple-focused Mindfulness, and Romantic Self-Efficacy	: Latent
Profiles of Risk & Resiliency	61
Introduction	61
Theoretical Framework	63
ACEs and Adult Functioning	65
Resiliency Factors	68
The Current Study	71
Methods	72
Procedure	72
Participants	72

Measures73
Analytic Plan76
Results77
Preliminary Results77
Latent Profile Analysis Results78
Risk and Resiliency Couple Profile Descriptions
Testing Differences between Risk and Resiliency Couple Profiles
Discussion
Explaining Latent Profiles and their Differences
Utility of a Dimensional Approach to Adversity
Practical Implications92
Limitations
Future Directions and Conclusions
Chapter 4 – General Discussion 101
Self-Reflection
References
Appendices

# List of Tables

Table 1. Descriptive statistics for all Study 1 variables	54
Table 2. Results of <i>t</i> -tests demonstrating significant improvements in relationship quality and	
couple relationship skills	55
Table 3. Bivariate correlations at baseline among variables used in Study 1 primary analyses.	56
Table 4. Descriptive statistics for all Study 2 variables	96
Table 5. Bivariate correlations among Study 2 variables	97
Table 6. Comparison of model fit indices for 1-class through 7-class solutions	98
Table 7. Comparing demographics and functioning across risk and resiliency profiles	00

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Dyadic prospective associations among immediate improvements in self-care and later
improvements in relationship quality57
Figure 2. Dyadic prospective associations among immediate improvements in conflict
management and later improvements in relationship quality
Figure 3. Dyadic prospective associations among immediate improvements in partner care and
later improvements in relationship quality
Figure 4. The moderating effect of Couple ACEs on the link between one's immediate
improvements in conflict management on improvements in their own relationship quality one
year after program enrollment
Figure 5. Standardized indicator means for the 6 risk and resiliency couple profiles

### **General Introduction**

In the last two decades, researchers across various disciplines have prioritized understanding the role of healthy relationships for physical and mental well-being as well as the risks that adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) present to relational, mental, and physical health. A prevention science approach to the intersection of relationship science and the study of ACEs offers a valuable framework for studying risk and resiliency and emphasizes the application of this growing knowledge to practice with couples with diverse histories of ACEs. Prevention science is an interdisciplinary approach at the intersection of human science research and practice, as its main goals are to (1) advance knowledge of risk factors and protective factors related to negative health outcomes and (2) apply this knowledge to practice within communities to prevent major human dysfunction (Coie et a., 1993). It is crucial to understand both how ACEs impact relationship skills and processes, as well as what factors promote healthy relationships and mitigate risks of ACEs. Couple relationship education (CRE) is a communitybased, preventive approach to promoting healthy relationships that has increasingly been offered to a broader segment of couples in communities, including couples with individual and collective ACEs (Doss et al., 2020; Hawkins & Erickson, 2015; Roddy et al., 2020; Wheeler et al., 2020). For couples with more ACEs, CRE can be an opportunity to learn and practice skills that can promote resiliency to potential negative effects of ACEs.

This dissertation, based in prevention science principles and incorporating aspects of more process-oriented theories, utilized longitudinal and cross-sectional, basic and applied research designs, as well as both variable- and person-centered quantitative methods to explore ACE-related risk and resiliency among CRE participants, an understudied area of inquiry. The goals of this dissertation more specifically were to (1) explore the concept of couple level ACEs

history, (2) advance the understanding of whether and how couple level ACEs influence CRE program experiences for self and partner, (3) identify couple level risk and resiliency typologies in a diverse sample of couples using levels of two types of ACEs and two resiliency factors, and (4) determine how such typologies are linked to other sample characteristics including individual and relational functioning. Importantly, this dissertation will explicate implications of findings for prevention programs working with diverse couples.

#### **ACE-Related Risk and Resiliency**

Since the seminal CDC study on ACEs was conducted (Felitti et al., 1998; Anda et al., 2009), a large body of research has accumulated suggesting more ACEs put individuals at risk for poorer physical and mental health in adulthood. A meta-analytic study of 37 studies demonstrated that more ACEs are linked to risky health behaviors such as smoking, heavy alcohol use, physical inactivity, sexual risk taking, and problematic drug use. Further, more ACEs are linked to negative health outcomes such as obesity, diabetes, cancer, heart disease, respiratory disease, as well as mental illness (Hughes et al., 2017). Meta-analytic results also demonstrated that more ACEs are linked to interpersonal violence victimization and perpetration, including that of intimate partner violence (Hughes et al., 2017). A few studies have also linked ACEs to negative, but less serious, relational outcomes such lower relationship quality and higher relationship distress (e.g., Wheeler et al., 2019; Wheeler et al., 2020).

While much of the literature on ACEs takes a deficit-approach to understanding the risks ACEs presents to functioning and health outcomes in adulthood, understanding resiliency among individuals who experience ACEs is equally, if not more important. This dissertation focused not only on risks that ACEs present, but also on resiliency factors people may possess or can develop that may offset or mitigate risk. Resilience is defined as an individual's capacity for successful

adjustment after experiences that threaten healthy development, such as adversity and chronic stress (Masten & Cincchetti, 2016). Many characteristics and skills can be associated with resilience after adversity.

Two potential resiliency factors that have been positively linked to post-traumatic growth as well as individual and couple functioning are mindfulness and self-efficacy (Benight & Bandura 2004; Hopwood & Schutte, 2017; Masten & Cincchetti, 2016; Whitaker et al., 2014). Individuals who have more self-efficacy have a greater sense of agency and respond to adversity with persistence (Benight & Bandura 2004; Masten & Cincchetti, 2016). Further, romantic selfefficacy (i.e., self-efficacy in the context of couple relationships) is positively linked to relationship quality (Riggio et al., 2013). In addition, the protective nature of mindfulness in the face of traumatic stress has been attributed to its focus on awareness of internal and external experiences in the present moment, instead of events of the past, and its principles of acceptance and nonjudgment of one's experiences (Follette et al., 2006). Individual mindfulness generally has also been positively linked to relationship quality in meta-analytic studies (McGill et al., 2016; Quinn-Nilas, 2020). Further, a newly-developed concept of mindfulness within the specific context of couple relationships, or couple-focused mindfulness, also demonstrates a comparatively stronger link to relationship quality than individual mindfulness (McGill et al., 2022). Mindfulness, self-efficacy, and many other potential resiliency factors related to couple relationships can be developed in the context of prevention or intervention work, such as CRE. **Promoting Healthy Relationships among Diverse Populations with Couple Relationship** Education

As our collective understanding of the importance of healthy relationships for physical and mental health has improved over the last several decades, CRE emerged as a method of

improving relationship stability and quality in communities. CRE is a preventive approach to promoting healthy couple relationships through community-based education. Program format and content vary across program sites, and such diverse approaches to CRE can present challenges to the study of its effectiveness. While some findings on the effectiveness of CRE are mixed (e.g., Hsueh et al., 2012; Wood et al., 2010), more recent assessments of specific, newly-developed curricula using rigorous randomized control trials offer evidence that CRE is effective in promoting healthy relationship skills and overall relationship quality and individual well-being (e.g., Adler-Baeder, McGill, et al., 2022; Hatch et al., 2022; Hawkins et al., 2022; Markman et al., 2022; McGill et al., 2020).

In order to better understand the mixed findings on the effectiveness of CRE, scholars have called for more nuanced assessments, suggesting that CRE is not a "one size fits all" kind of intervention. Calls for the study of the diverse program delivery formats, program content, and participant samples have increased in the last decade. Heeding these calls, contemporary research on CRE includes assessments of effectiveness among diverse samples or specific sub-populations (e.g., couples with lower socioeconomic status, same-gender couples, couples in stepfamilies, Black couples, etc.) (e.g., Barton et al., 2021; Hawkins & Fackrell, 2010; Lucier-Greer & Adler-Baeder, 2012; Pepping et al., 2020), tests of mechanisms of post-program change to understand how CRE works (e.g., Barton et al., 2017; Cooper et al., 2021; Le et al., 2020; Rauer et al., 2014), and implementation science approaches to improve knowledge about best-practices in the implementation of CRE (e.g., Bradford et al., 2012; Totura Garrison et al., 2022).

As significant federal funding has been made available through the US Department of Health and Human Services' Administration for Children and Families for the implementation and study of CRE programs, access to these programs for lower-resourced communities has

increased. Lower-resourced communities are a key audience for many CRE efforts, as lack of resources is linked to increased relationship instability and functioning (Falconier & Jackson, 2020; Karney, 2021). Although CRE with more vulnerable populations has been encouraged by funders and ACEs are more likely to occur among lower-resourced populations (Conger et al., 2010; Cronholm et al., 2015; Gill & Page, 2006; Merrick et al., 2018; Zielinski, 2009), only four studies of CRE have explored the effects of ACEs on participants before or after programming (Cooper et al., 2023a; Cooper et al., 2023b; Wheeler et al., 2020; Wheeler et al., 2021). Although having more ACEs is linked with lower relationship functioning before CRE, having more ACEs did not attenuate positive program impact on relationship quality up to one year after two distinct CRE programs (Cooper et al., 2023b). Additionally, even fewer studies take a risk and resiliency approach to understanding traits or skills that those with more ACEs may have or can adopt in order to mitigate the effects of ACEs.

#### **The Current Dissertation**

To address the aforementioned gaps in the literature, the current dissertation consisted of two studies that both seek to advance the study of ACEs and CRE. The current dissertation is rooted in prevention science principles, particularly the emphasis on risk and resiliency, and takes assumptions from interdependence theory (Kelley & Thibaut, 1978; Wickham & Knee, 2012). Interdependence theory recognizes that characteristics and actions of one partner will influence the other partner and the overall relationship and vice versa. Interdependence theory underpins expectations of dyadic links between partners' ACEs and resiliency factors before and after CRE.

This dissertation also utilized diverse quantitative methods including variable-centered and person-centered approaches, basic and applied research questions, and cross-sectional and

longitudinal study designs. Variable-centered designs assess concurrent and longitudinal links between variables, while person-centered approaches allow researchers to uncover latent profiles or typologies of respondents in a sample based on indicator variables. Importantly, the studies also considered dyadic processes and couple level variables. These approaches are also surprisingly rare in studies of CRE and ACEs.

Recent findings demonstrate that CRE programs are similarly effective in improving relationship quality at all levels of ACEs (Cooper et al., 2023b), suggesting that there are resilience and protective factors among CRE participants with ACEs. Study 1 expanded on these findings and integrated interdependence theory assumptions. Study 1 explored how CRE works first by testing significant change among seven couple relationship skills, then by testing skills that improved with at least a .30 Cohen's d effect size (self-care, conflict management, and partner care) as mechanisms of change. Specifically, Study 1 tested prospective associations among one's immediate improvements in self-care, conflict management, and partner care and one's own and one's partner's relationship quality one year after the program. Additionally, Study 1 tested how these dyadic processes may differ for couples based on ACE exposure of both partners. This study adds to the CRE literature by indicating what couple relationship skills may be most salient for promoting longer-term relationship quality in diverse populations and in populations with higher ACE exposure. Implications center on informing CRE program developers and practitioners in what program content elements to prioritize for diverse and vulnerable populations.

Study 2 expanded on the concept of cumulative couple ACEs and took a person-centered approach by exploring latent risk and resiliency couple profiles as indicated by both partners' ACEs, couple-focused mindfulness, and romantic self-efficacy. Novel elements in this study

include the categorization of ACEs by two type (i.e., deprivation or threat) and the use of a new measure of couple-focused mindfulness. Additionally, Study 2 tested for differences among couple risk and resiliency groups in demographic characteristics, relationship functioning, and mental health functioning. The goal was to illuminate the diversity of couple profiles that likely exist in CRE participant populations. This study adds to basic research on ACEs and resiliency and informs practice of community-based programming for couples.

# Chapter II. Study 1: Exploring Dyadic Processes of Change after Couple Relationship Education and considering Adverse Childhood Experiences

Couple relationship education (CRE) is a community-based, preventative approach to promoting healthy, happy relationships and avoiding negative relational outcomes such as dissatisfaction in relationships, unhealthy relational patterns, and instability (Markman et al., 2022). Early reports on federally funded CRE programs indicated mixed results when testing its effectiveness for vulnerable populations (e.g., Hsueh et al., 2012; Wood et al., 2010). However, more recent rigorous randomized control trials of CRE have demonstrated evidence of short-term longitudinal effectiveness in improving individual, couple, and family functioning, on average, in increasingly diverse samples (Adler-Baeder, McGill, et al., 2022; Barden et al., 2022; Hatch et al., 2022; Hawkins et al., 2022; Markman et al., 2022). In large part, evaluations of CRE have centered on participation in CRE as the determinant of outcomes. An area of CRE research that is growing and that is critical for understanding nuance in whether and how CRE programs are effective for diverse populations involves understanding possible moderators of program impact and processes within couples by which CRE improves individual and relational well-being.

CRE programs cover a broad array of distinct couple relationship and individual skills; yet minimal effort has been made to assess specific measures directly related to program content areas, changes in these, and their influence on later outcomes. Recently, some studies assessed and found evidence that specific elements discussed in programs such as communication, quality time, and emotional support explain relationship quality improvements (Carlson et al., 2022; Le et al., 2020). Another recent efficacy study of CRE included a measure of a group of relationship skills that correspond directly to program content and found evidence that improvements in these skills explain later enhancements in relationship quality a year later (Adler-Baeder, McGill, et al., 2022). While this latter finding collectively validated program content, it would be helpful to

study changes in skill areas more specifically, since some may be more or less amenable to change and comparatively more or less influential on relationship quality over time. This work to disaggregate changes in specific skills addressed in CRE will also benefit from using a dyadic approach since it is rare in studies of CRE. Exploring within-couple links among changes over time will serve to strengthen both empirical models of change and curriculum developers' and practitioners' knowledge of couple processes of change that can be expected.

Further, federal initiatives to promote healthy relationships have emphasized that CRE be made available to populations who are at higher risk for negative relational outcomes due to lower resources and adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) (Doss et al., 2020; Hawkins & Erickson, 2015; Roddy et al., 2020). Surprisingly though, given the diversity of current samples, there has been limited effort explicitly in evaluation designs to assess the vulnerability of the population served, particularly ACEs, and consider their influence on patterns of change. Two CRE programs, *ELEVATE* and *Couples Connecting Mindfully*, were recently found to impact relationship quality similarly for participants with any number of ACEs, up to one year after the program (Cooper et al., 2023b).

To date, no published study has assessed dyadic influences of ACEs on processes of change in specific skill areas using a large diverse sample of couples. As such, this study addressed this by first exploring changes in seven distinct relationship skills. We then tested whether the skill areas that changed the most (i.e., had at least .30 Cohen's *d* effect sizes) influenced relationship quality over time for self and partner. Additionally, this study sought to enhance the understanding of whether couples' collective amount of childhood adversity (cumulative couple ACEs) influences the link between the skill areas and later relational well-

being. Implications for these findings center on identifying key content areas of CRE that enhance relational well-being for diverse populations who experience various levels of ACEs.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

This study is grounded in a prevention science framework (Coie et al., 1993) as it seeks to understand the mechanisms by which a prevention program for couples improves relational wellbeing. Prevention science includes an emphasis on understanding risk and resiliency. This study first focuses on resiliency in relationships by testing assumptions of strengths-based approaches to CRE. The premise of CRE is to offer tools for couples to build from the foundation they already have and fine-tune skills that further enhance their relationship. Exploring positive changes in targeted CRE areas and their influence on healthy relationship outcomes strengthens the research support for that assumption. This study then integrates an index of risk factors, ACEs, that may influence processes of change. Understanding whether and how CRE programs operate differently (e.g., if some curriculum content is more effective than others among couples with more ACEs) is essential when studying CRE among diverse populations.

Further, when studying couples in prevention science, it is important to consider not only how individuals change after a prevention program, but also how partners may influence each other's changes. Interdependence theory (Kelley & Thibaut, 1978; Wickham & Knee, 2012) posits that the experiences, behaviors, and traits of one partner will influence not only their own relational well-being, but also their partner's relational well-being and the overall functioning of the relationship. As such, exploring dyadic prospective associations among changes is crucial to better understanding within-couple processes of change after CRE.

#### **Couple Relationship Education**

For over two decades, research has been accumulating on the evaluation of communitybased CRE for diverse populations. While conflicting findings from three large CRE studies (Bir et al., 2012; Hsuch et al., 2012; Wood et al., 2010) contributed to much discussion regarding benefits of CRE (Cowan & Cowan, 2014; Hawkins, 2013; Johnson, 2012), results from 11 metaanalytic studies suggest that CRE is modestly successful in promoting healthy couple relationships for the average participant (e.g., Carroll & Doherty, 2003; Fawcett et al., 2010; Hawkins et al., 2022). Recent findings from rigorous randomized control trials provide even more convincing evidence of the benefits of CRE participation to indicators of overall relational well-being, such as couple quality, relationship satisfaction, and relationship commitment (Adler-Baeder, McGill, et al., 2022; Hawkins et al., 2022; Markman et al., 2022). Some studies provide more specifics, demonstrating CRE's effectiveness in enhancing distinct couple skills and processes such as communication, emotional intimacy, and conflict management (Hatch et al., 2022; Hawkins et al., 2022).

In order to better contextualize the results on CRE effectiveness for the average participant, a growing area of CRE research includes tests of *how* it is effective by exploring associations among post-program changes (e.g., Barton et al., 2017; Cooper et al., 2021; Rauer et al., 2014; Williamson et al., 2016). Implications for such assessments center on informing curriculum developers which content or implementation elements are successful in promoting relational well-being. A fundamental assumption of CRE is that teaching couples skills that are important for developing and maintaining fulfilling relationships will improve their relational well-being and satisfaction with their relationship. Communication has been tested as a content-related mechanism of change in relationship education, and findings are mixed (Stanley et al.,

2020). While many studies find support that improved couple communication predicts improved relational well-being (e.g., Barton et al., 2017; Hawkins et al., 2017; Le et al., 2020; Rauer et al., 2014; Roddy et al., 2020), others find that improvements in communication do not predict later improvements in relational well-being (Williamson et al., 2016) or indicate mixed results for men and women in different-sex couples (Baucom et al., 2006; Schilling et al., 2003; Stanley et al., 2007).

Overall, few studies of CRE use a dyadic approach to exploring program effectiveness (e.g., Carlson et al., 2017; Roberson et al., 2020) and among those studies exploring mechanisms of change only two have assessed within-couple change-on-change influences. Partner effects on improved relational well-being have been documented for increased positive interactions (Hawkins et al., 2017) and increased quality time (Carlson et al., 2022). This highlights CRE's impact on the couple unit, suggesting that one's reports of improvements in positive interactions and quality time promote not only their own perceptions, but both partners' perceptions of the relationship. While our understanding of how CRE is working for couples is improving, there is much left to be learned, especially regarding other specific content areas of CRE.

The *National Extension Relationship and Marriage Education Model* provides a framework to guide research on multiple potential mechanisms of change after CRE (*NERMEM*; Futris & Adler-Baeder, 2013). *NERMEM* identifies seven research-based factors related to healthy couple functioning for CRE curriculum developers to focus on: (1) care for self, (2) choose: intentionality and choosing to prioritize the relationship, (3) know: intimate knowledge among partners, (4) care: showing affection and appreciation for your partner, (5) share: developing and maintaining a friendship and shared identity, (6) manage: conflict management, and (7) connect: connection to a broader community. A recent efficacy study included an

assessment of processes of change and found that improvements in these skills (assessed through a composite measure) immediately after a CRE program predicted improvements in relationship quality one year later for two distinct CRE curricula (Adler-Baeder, McGill, et al., 2022). Exploring these skills individually is a crucial next step in understanding which skills contribute more or less to improved relationship quality over time for self and partner.

## Adverse Childhood Experiences and Adult Couple Relationships

Individuals who experience adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) are at an increased risk for a plethora of negative outcomes related to health and well-being (Felitti et al., 1998; Hughes et al., 2017), including relational well-being (e.g., Brown et al., 2015; Wheeler et al., 2021). ACEs have been negatively linked to general relationship functioning (Cooper et al., 2023a; Wheeler et al., 2020; Wheeler et al., 2021) as well as to serious negative relational outcomes such as interpersonal violence victimization and perpetration (Brown et al., 2015; Whitfield et al., 2013). The seminal ACEs study (Felitti et al., 1998) first demonstrated the surprisingly high rates of ACEs, finding that roughly 60% of individuals in a mostly white and well-educated sample reported at least one. More recent reports of more diverse and higher-risk samples demonstrate that populations with lower resources and groups who have been historically marginalized report higher rates of ACEs (Conger et al., 2010; Cronholm et al., 2015; Gill & Page, 2006; Merrick et al., 2018; Zielinski, 2009). For example, Merrick et al. (2018) found that individuals who identified as Black, Hispanic, gay/lesbian, bisexual, respondents without a high school education, and those who made less than \$15,000 per year were more likely to report ACEs than respondents who were white, heterosexual, had at least a high school education, and were in any other income bracket.

Although recent CRE samples are economically diverse, as noted, due to enhanced accessibility to programming (Doss et al., 2020; Hawkins & Erickson, 2015; Roddy et al., 2020), very few recent studies consider risks to relational well-being related to participants' backgrounds involving adverse childhood experiences. Only 4 studies of CRE have included an assessment of ACEs and found that ACEs are negatively linked to relational well-being among CRE participants at program start (Wheeler et al., 2020; Wheeler et al., 2021; Cooper et al., 2023a; Cooper et al., 2023b). Dyadic assessments of ACEs among CRE participants demonstrate that one's ACEs are also negatively associated with their partner's relational and individual wellbeing before CRE (Wheeler et al., 2020; Wheeler et al., 2021; Cooper et al., 2023a). While having more ACEs is linked with lower reports of relationship functioning before CRE (Wheeler et al., 2021; Cooper et al., 2023a), ACEs have not been found to interfere with CRE program impact on relationship quality (Cooper et al., 2023b).

Such dyadic assessments are critical to understanding how one partner's ACEs influence the other and vice-versa. Literature based on clinical populations experiencing trauma recognizes the impact of systemic traumatic stress in which trauma of one partner influences the relationship dynamic overall as well as the other partner's experience of the relationship (Nelson Goff & Smith, 2005). Systemic traumatic stress can present within couples in multiple ways. Clinical researchers have explored single-trauma couples and dual-trauma couples distinctively. Singletrauma couples are couples in which only one partner experienced a traumatic event(s) or circumstance(s), while dual-trauma couples consist of two partners who both experienced trauma from the same or distinct events or circumstances (Balcom, 1996; Nelson Goff et al., 2006). Single- and dual-trauma couples have both similar and distinct challenges. For example, partners in single- and dual-trauma couples may experience extreme emotional reactivity or lack of

emotional availability of a traumatized partner, emotional or instrumental difficulty in caregiving for a partner who is experiencing the effects of trauma, and intense pursuer-distancer patterns (Balcom, 1996; Nelson Goff et al., 2006). Dual-trauma couples may uniquely be challenged with partners' lack of empathy due to very different traumatic experiences, issues with overidentification due to similar traumatic experiences, or competition regarding whose coping strategies are most successful or who has experienced the most post-traumatic growth (Balcom, 1996). For example, conflict could occur if one believes that their partner's coping strategies are unhealthy or less helpful than their own. Understanding the cumulative risk associated with trauma and adversity, one may assume that dual-trauma couples have poorer relationship functioning, although findings are mixed (Nelson Goff et al., 2014; Ruhlmann et al., 2018). Dual-trauma couples also report strengths such as mutual understanding and shared goals (Braughton et al., 2022). It could be that greater levels of understanding, empathy, and support between partners in dual-trauma couples outweighs risk associated with effect of trauma.

Research on single- and dual-trauma couples has considered mostly one trauma type/occurrence in partners, such as whether one or both partners experienced child maltreatment, not cumulative trauma or adversity such as the additive ACE Scale; however the cumulative effects of adversity for the individual has been well-documented (e.g., Hughes et al., 2017). No known study has considered the role of cumulative risks of both partners' ACEs to the relationship. Combining the understanding of systemic traumatic stress with the cumulative nature of ACEs, exploring the total amount of ACEs between two partners is warranted. This is the first known study to assess "cumulative couple ACEs," or total amount of ACEs between both partners.

Research on factors that promote resiliency among couples in CRE with a trauma history is also growing. A recent study of ACEs among CRE participants considered resiliency factors and found that compared to ACEs, romantic self-efficacy, a characteristic that can be developed through skills training, was positively and more strongly associated with relationship quality for both men and women at program start (Cooper et al., 2023b). In addition to baseline associations, there is some evidence of ACEs' influence on relationship education program outcomes. One study found that participants attending relationship education as an individual who reported four or more ACEs also reported greater reductions in individual distress as compared to participants who reported zero ACEs or one ACE (Wheeler et al., 2020). However, when assessing ACEs' influence on relational program outcomes among participants who attended CRE with a partner and testing thresholds of ACEs (1, 2, 3, 4+, compared to having fewer ACEs), rather than testing differences between groups reporting 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4+ ACEs, Cooper et al. (2023b) found that ACEs did not moderate program effects of two different CRE curricula for the individual.

These findings indicated that participants who reported more ACEs benefitted from the CRE programs similarly to those who reported fewer or no ACEs. When accounting for ACEs in a test of romantic self-efficacy and individual mindfulness as mechanisms of change in relationship quality after CRE, ACEs were not significantly linked with changes in any outcome (Cooper et al., 2023b). Notably, this study did not include a dyadic approach. While findings on the influence of ACEs on program outcomes after CRE are mixed, with one finding no influence and one finding added benefit when comparing the extreme groups, there is consistent evidence that participants who report more ACEs enter CRE at a higher risk for lower relational wellbeing. This warrants further exploration of ACEs' association with baseline functioning before

CRE and ACEs' influence after program participation and the consideration of dyadic influences.

#### **The Current Study**

Grounded in a prevention science framework with a risk and resiliency emphasis and using theoretical assumptions from interdependence theory that expect influences between partners, this study adds to the growing body of literature on dyadic processes of change after CRE and the influence of ACEs on CRE participants' experiences among diverse populations. Specifically, the current study addressed the following research questions:

**Research Question 1:** Do significant individual improvements of at least d = .30 effect size in relationship skills immediately after a program predict one's own and partner's changes in relationship quality one year after enrolling in a CRE program?

**Research Question 2:** Do cumulative couple ACEs moderate the dyadic, prospective associations between changes in relationship skills and later changes in relationship quality one year after CRE?

### Methods

### Procedure

Participants for this study were taken from a larger randomized control trial of two CRE curricula, *ELEVATE: Taking Your Relationship to the Next Level* (Futris et al., 2014) and *Couples Connecting Mindfully* (*CCM;* McGill et al., 2016). Couples were recruited through 9 community agencies in a southeastern state by word of mouth, fliers, social media, and other community advertisements. Participants had to be at least 19 years old, available to attend scheduled classes, and enroll with a partner to take part in the study. After study enrollment,

participants completed a baseline survey consisting of demographic questions and measures assessing various individual, couple, and family well-being constructs.

After completing the baseline survey, participants were randomly assigned to either *ELEVATE*, *CCM*, or a no-program control group. Both programs were then held at the respective community agencies in six two-hour sessions by a mixed-gender team of two facilitators. The *ELEVATE* program consists of eight modules covering the seven core relationship skills presented in *NERMEM* (Futris & Adler-Baeder, 2013). *CCM* is also grounded in *NERMEM*, with more emphasis on mindfulness, awareness of intra- and inter-personal processes that are important for healthy relationships, and developing mindfulness practices and skills. Participants were asked to complete follow-up surveys immediately post-program, six months after study enrollment, and one year after study enrollment. Surveys took one hour on average to complete, and participants were compensated \$50 for each survey they completed.

#### **Participants**

The current study included 732 individuals in 409 couple relationships assigned to a CRE program and who attended at least three of six program sessions. A previous meta-analysis suggested that at least half of the program sessions are needed for participants to benefit (Arnold & Beelman, 2019). To be included in the current study, participants also needed to have responded to all items on the ACEs assessment which was administered at the two-year follow-up survey.

Fifty-three percent of the sample identified as women, 47% as men. Ninety-nine percent were in different-gender relationships, while 8 individuals were in same-gender relationships. Seventy-five percent of the sample was married, and 25% were in a committed relationship or engaged. Sixty-three percent of the sample was white/Caucasian, 31% percent of the sample was

Black/African American, 6% were another race or ethnicity. Eleven percent of the current sample reported an annual household income of less than \$14,000, 11% reported between \$14,000 and \$25,000, 15% reported between \$25,000 and \$40,000, 31% reported between \$40,000 and \$75,000, 18% reported between \$75,000 and \$100,000, and 15% reported an annual household income of over \$100,000.

Sixty-four percent of individuals in the current sample reported at least one ACE and 19% reported having four or more of 10 intrafamilial ACEs. These proportions are higher than the original ACEs study (Felitti et al.,1998), and this is likely due to the current sample being more economically and racially diverse than Felitti et al.'s sample. The current rates are more consistent with economically disadvantaged and racial minority samples, such as in the Philadelphia ACEs Study (Wade et al., 2016).

#### Measures

#### Couple Relationship Quality

Couple relationship quality was measured using 10 items taken from the Quality Marriage Index (QMI; Norton, 1983), the Couple Satisfaction Index (CSI; Funk & Rogge, 2007), and the Commitment/Dedication Scale (Stanley & Markman, 1992). The three items from the QMI were: "We have a good relationship," "My relationship makes me happy," and "Our relationship is strong." The four items from the CSI included, "Please indicate the degree of happiness, all things considered, of your relationship," and "How rewarding is your relationship with your partner?" A sample of the three items from the Commitment/Dedication Scale is: "I feel good about our prospects to make this relationship work for a lifetime." Response anchors for all items on QMI and commitment ranged from one to seven. One item on the CSI ranged from one to seven, while the other three ranged from one to six. The Cronbach's alpha for

internal consistency demonstrated excellent reliability for all 10 items in the current sample at baseline and one-year follow-up ( $\alpha = .96$ ). There were no missing data due to multiple imputation methods used (description to follow); therefore, sum scores were calculated from the 10 items, similar to Adler-Baeder, McGill, et al. (2022) and Cooper et al. (2023b), for use at baseline and one-year follow-up. Higher scores indicated greater relationship quality.

### **Couple Relationship Skills**

The Couple Relationship Skills Inventory (Adler-Baeder, Futris, et al., 2022) was used to assess seven relationship skill areas that were used as separate measures of relationship skills: Self-care (8 items), Choose (intentionality and prioritizing relationship enhancement; 4 items), Know (shared intimate knowledge among partners; 4 items), Care (positive interactions, showing affection and appreciation for partner; 4 items), Share (developing and maintaining friendship and shared identity; 3 items), Manage (conflict management; 5 items), and Connect (connection to broader community and social support; 4 items). All items were on a scale from one ("very strongly disagree") to seven ("very strongly agree"), and each subscale showed good reliability in the current sample ( $\alpha = .69$ -.88) consistent with the original scale development (i.e.,  $\alpha = .71$ -.87; Adler-Baeder, Futris, et al., 2022). Items for each subscale were summed and higher scores indicated higher skill levels.

#### Childhood Adversity

The Adverse Childhood Experiences Scale (Felitti et al., 1998) was used to assess childhood adversity. The ACEs Scale assessed 10 intrafamilial ACEs that occurred in the household: physical abuse, emotional abuse, sexual abuse, physical and emotional neglect, household substance abuse, household mental illness, witnessing domestic violence, having a caretaker who was incarcerated, and parental divorce. Responses were dichotomous (0 = no, 1 =

yes), and the scores (i.e., "yes" responses) were summed for each couple to obtain a value of couple ACEs for each individual in the couple.

#### **Analytic Plan**

Missing data were addressed using multiple imputation using the "mice" package in R. In this imputation procedure, observed data and relationships among observed data were used to predict missing item values. (Azur et al., 2011; van Buuren & Groothuis-Oudshoorn, 2011). Descriptive statistics including skewness and kurtosis were examined to ensure normal distribution of all variables.

Although gender is commonly the distinguishing variable when taking dyadic approaches to studying couples in mostly different-gender couple samples, all dyads were made indistinguishable by randomly assigning "partner 1" or "partner 2" status to each partner. One reason is that scholars suggest that decisions regarding distinguishability among dyads should be made based on research questions and variables of interest (Kenny, 2015; Peugh et al., 2013), and gender was not a variable of interest in the current study. Additionally, it is important to retain same-gender couples when studying diverse samples. There was no theoretical reason to expect actor and partner regression paths to be different between partner 1s and partner 2s due to their random designation, thus actor and partner regression paths were constrained to be equal for partner 1s and partner 2s, resulting in only one actor effect and one partner effect in each model (Peugh et al., 2013; West, 2013).

Correlations between couple skills, and relationship quality were obtained and bivariate relationships among the variables were examined. Before testing changes in couple relationship skills as a predictor of later improvements in relationship quality, paired samples *t*-tests were conducted to test pre-post program changes in each skill area and Cohen's *d* effect sizes were

examined. The ability to find significant change-on-change paths in prospective models is enhanced when there is significant change in the predictor measure of a larger magnitude. To account for the dependence among partners, *t*-tests were conducted separately for partner 1s and partner 2s. Skills in which either group of participants report significant on-average improvements with at least a .30 Cohen's *d* effect size (i.e., considered a moderate effect size; Cohen, 1988) were tested as a mechanism of change in CRE for Research Question 1.

For Research Question 1, testing dyadic prospective associations among residual changes in couple relationship skills and relationship quality one year later, autoregressive actor-partner interdependence models (APIM; Cook & Kenny, 2005) were used. Models were fit individually per skill. Relationship quality one-year after CRE (T4) of each partner was regressed onto immediate post-program (T2) levels of relationship skills of both partners. Baseline levels of skills and relationship quality were controlled for so that T2 and T4 variables essentially represented residual change (Castro-Schilo & Grimm, 2018; Kisbu-Sakarya et al., 2013). Model fit was assessed by examining chi-square goodness-of-fit, RMSEA, CFI, TLI, and SRMR values. Models were determined to have adequate model fit if the RMSEA was equal or below .08, CFI and TLI were above .90, and SRMR of less than .08 (Hu & Bentler, 1999; Kenny, 2020; MacCallum, et al., 1996).

Before testing Research Question 2, residual scores of immediate post-program couple relationship skills from RQ1 models were saved to use as observed residual change scores in subsequent models. Residual scores were used to create an interaction term of relationship skills change and cumulative couple ACEs with which to test moderation by cumulative couple ACEs. To test Research Question 2 assessing cumulative couple ACEs as a moderator of dyadic prospective associations among couple skills and relationship quality, the prospective process

models were fit with the T2 residual change scores of relationship skills, instead of modeling T2 skills raw scores controlling for baseline levels. Each partner's T4 relationship quality were again regressed onto their own T1 relationship quality, thus T4 relationship quality represented residual change. T4 relationship quality was regressed onto one's own and their partner's T2 residual change scores of couple skills. The interaction term of each partner's T2 skills residual change scores X cumulative couple ACEs was defined. T4 relationship quality was also regressed onto the interactions of one's own and their partner's T2 skills residual change and cumulative couple ACEs. I then probed significant moderation effects using simple slopes (-1 SD below the mean of cumulative couple ACEs and +1 SD above the mean) to determine the moderating nature of couple ACEs.

#### Results

#### **Preliminary Results**

Before testing primary research questions, demographic differences were tested after partners were randomly assigned partner 1 and partner 2 status to validate the random assignment procedure. In addition, descriptive statistics were examined to ensure normal distribution, and pre-post program *t*-tests were conducted to determine which skills would be used to test as mechanisms of change after CRE (i.e., those with significant pre/post mean level changes with an effect size of at least .30). Lastly, correlations were calculated to assess bivariate associations among variables used in primary models.

We found that there were no differences between partners randomly assigned to partner 1 and those assigned to partner 2 status based on program assigned ( $\chi^2 = .09$ , df = 1, p = .77), gender ( $\chi^2 = 2.20$ , df = 1, p = .12), race/ethnicity ( $\chi^2 = 4.74$ , df = 4, p = .32), relationship status ( $\chi^2 = .34$ , df = 2, p = .85), income ( $\chi^2 = .93$ , df = 6, p = .99), or age (t = -.17, df = 722, p = .86),
validating the partner status random assignment procedure. Further, descriptive statistics for all study variables can be found in Table 1. Skewness statistics ranged from -1.28 to 1.11, and kurtosis statistics ranged from -0.47 to 2.56, indicating acceptable normal distributions (Byrne, 2010; George & Mallery, 2010; Hair et al., 2010). No transformations were required.

Based on paired samples *t*-tests, there were significant improvements in relationship quality from baseline to one year after program enrollment as well as in all seven couple relationship skills tested for both partners from baseline to immediate post-program (see Table 2). Self-care, conflict management, and partner care demonstrated significant improvements from baseline to immediate post-program with effect sizes of at least Cohen's d = .30 (range d =.31-.44). These three skills were then tested as predictors of later improvements in relationship quality. Determining that mean level changes were significant for the variables in the model allows for clearer interpretation of the change on change models. Bivariate correlations were computed for couple relationship quality, self-care, conflict management, partner care, and couple ACEs at baseline, and relationships among variables were assessed (see Table 3). As expected, partners' self-care, conflict management, and partner care were positively correlated with their own and their partners' relationship quality at baseline (r range = .34 - .54,  $p \le .001$ ). Couple ACEs were negatively correlated with each partner's relationship quality, self-care, and conflict management (r range = -.16 - -.28,  $p \le .01$ ). Couple ACEs was not correlated with either partner's report of partner care (r range = -.003 - -.01, p range = .87 - .94).

Testing Significant Improvements in Self-Care, Conflict Management, and Partner Care as Predictors of Later Improvements in Relationship Quality for Oneself and One's Partner *Self-Care*  The dyadic path model testing whether immediate improvements in one's self-care predicted improvements one year after CRE enrollment in one's own and one's partner's relationship quality demonstrated excellent model fit ( $\chi^2 = 27.61$ , df = 18, p = .7; RMSEA = .04, p = .79; CFI = .99; TLI = .98; SRMR = .05). Standardized and unstandardized model results are presented in Figure 1. One's significant improvements in self-care immediately after participating in a CRE program predicted greater improvements in one's own relationship quality one year after program enrollment (Partner 1  $\beta$  = .13, p < .001; Partner 2  $\beta$  = .15, p < .001). However, one's significant improvements in self-care immediately after participating in a CRE program did not significantly predict one's partner's improvements in relationship quality one year after program enrollment (Partner 1  $\beta$  = .04, p = .34; Partner 2  $\beta$  = .03, p = .34).

# **Conflict Management**

The dyadic path model testing whether immediate improvements in one's conflict management predicted improvements one year after CRE enrollment in one's own and one's partner's relationship quality demonstrated acceptable model fit ( $\chi^2 = 60.96$ , df = 18, p < .001; RMSEA = .08, p = .02; CFI = .94; TLI = .92; SRMR = .07). Standardized and unstandardized model results are presented in Figure 2. One's significant improvements in conflict management immediately after participating in a CRE program predicted greater improvements in one's own relationship quality one year after program enrollment (Partner 1  $\beta$  = .15, p < .001; Partner 2  $\beta$  = .17, p < .001). However, one's significant improvements in conflict management immediately after participating in a CRE program did not significantly predict one's partner's improvements in relationship quality one year after program enrollment (Partner 1  $\beta$  = .04, p = .34; Partner 2  $\beta$ = .03, p = .34).

# **Partner Care**

The dyadic path model testing whether immediate improvements in one's partner care predicted improvements one year after CRE enrollment in one's own and one's partner's relationship quality demonstrated acceptable model fit ( $\chi^2 = 59.26$ , df = 18, p < .001; RMSEA = .08, p = .03; CFI = .95; TLI = .93; SRMR = .07). Standardized and unstandardized model results are presented in Figure 3. One's significant improvements in partner care immediately after participating in a CRE program predicted greater improvements in one's own relationship quality one year after program enrollment (Partner 1  $\beta = .10$ , p < .01; Partner 2  $\beta = .11$ , p < .01). However, one's significant improvements in partner care immediately after participating in a CRE program did not significantly predict greater improvements in one's partner's relationship quality one year after program enrollment (Partner 1  $\beta = .06$ , p = .14; Partner 2  $\beta = .06$ , p = .14). **Testing Whether Cumulative Couple ACEs Moderate Couple Skills-Related Mechanisms** of Change

# Self-Care

The dyadic path model testing whether cumulative couple ACEs moderated the links between residual change scores from baseline to immediate post-program (i.e., immediate improvements) in self-care and improvements one year after CRE enrollment in one's own and one's partner's relationship quality demonstrated good model fit ( $\chi^2 = 23.85$ , df = 9, p = .005; RMSEA = .06, p = .21; CFI = .96; TLI = .94; SRMR = .02). Cumulative couple ACEs did not moderate the link between one's immediate improvements in self-care and improvements in one's own relationship quality (Partner 1  $\beta < .003$ , p = .96; Partner 2  $\beta < .004$ , p = .97) or one's partner's relationship quality (Partner 1  $\beta = -.05$ , Partner 2  $\beta = -.05$ , p = .52) one year after program enrollment.

# **Conflict Management**

The dyadic path model testing whether cumulative couple ACEs moderated the links between residual change scores from baseline to immediate post-program (i.e., immediate improvements) in conflict management and improvements one year after CRE enrollment in one's own and one's partner's relationship quality demonstrated good model fit ( $\chi^2 = 21.84$ , df = 9, p = .009; RMSEA = .06, p = .28; CFI = .97; TLI = .95; SRMR = .02). Notably, cumulative couple ACEs moderated the link between one's immediate improvements in conflict management and one's own improvements in relationship quality one year after program enrollment (Partner 1  $\beta$  = -.18, p = .03; Partner 2  $\beta$  = -.20, p = .03).

Simple slopes for the link between immediate improvements in conflict management and improvements in relationship quality one year after program enrollment were tested for low (- 1 SD below the mean) and high (+ 1 SD above the mean) levels of cumulative couple ACEs. Both simple slopes models indicated a significant positive link between immediate improvements in conflict management and improvements in relationship quality one year after program enrollment. However, the link between immediate improvements in conflict management and greater improvements in one's own relationship quality one year after program enrollment was weaker for participants with more cumulative couple ACEs (Partner 1  $\beta$  = -.18, *p* = .03; Partner 2  $\beta$  = -.18, *p* = .03) than for participants with fewer couple ACEs (Partner 1  $\beta$  = -.21, *p* = .03; Partner 2  $\beta$  = -.21, *p* = .03). The interaction plot demonstrating the moderating nature of cumulative couple ACEs is presented in Figure 4. Cumulative couple ACEs did not moderate the link between one's immediate improvements in conflict management and one's partner's improvements in relationship quality one year after program enrollment (Partner 1  $\beta$  = .16, *p* = .08; Partner 2  $\beta$  = .14, *p* = .08).

# Partner Care

The dyadic path model testing whether cumulative couple ACEs moderated the links between residual change scores from baseline to immediate post-program (i.e., immediate improvements) in partner care and improvements one year after CRE enrollment in one's own and one's partner's relationship quality and demonstrated adequate model fit ( $\chi^2 = 26.00$ , df = 9, p = .002; RMSEA = .07, p = .15; CFI = .96; TLI = .94; SRMR = .02). Cumulative couple ACEs did not moderate the link between one's immediate improvements in partner care and improvements in one's own relationship quality (Partner 1  $\beta$  = .01, p = .90; Partner 2  $\beta$  = .01, p = .90) or one's partner's relationship quality (Partner 1  $\beta$  = -.11, p = .33; Partner 2  $\beta$  = -.09, p = .33) one year after program enrollment.

#### Discussion

CRE programs' success in promoting healthy couple relationships continues to be recognized by policy makers, as federal funds have been allocated to CRE efforts since 2006 (Hawkins et al., 2022). However, the need to explore more nuanced questions related to how CRE is successful within couples and diverse populations remains. This study builds from Adler-Baeder et al.'s (2022) findings that validated the foundational assumption of CRE, that improvements in a composite measure of couple relationship skills predict later improvements in relationship quality for the individual. Grounded in a prevention science framework (Coie et al., 1993) and interdependence theory (Kelley & Thibaut, 1978), this study provides more detailed and expanded information by considering independently each skill area addressed in the CRE program. Ours is also one of the few studies to incorporate a dyadic approach and to consider trauma histories as a couple.

We found that of the skill areas addressed in the curriculum and assessed (self-care, choose, know, share, care, conflict management, connect), it was self-care, care for partner, and

conflict management that improved the most immediately post-program, on average. We then found that immediate post-program improvements in self-care, conflict management, and partner care predicted improvements in one's own relationship quality one year after CRE program enrollment, but not change in one's partner's relationship quality. This suggests that self-care, conflict management, and partner care are three specific skills that may be driving the improvements in later relationship quality for an individual. Additionally, one's own efforts seem to be the most impactful for one's own reports of relationship quality in the current sample. This study also adds to the small body of research exploring the role of CRE participant ACEs on program outcomes by finding that for couples who report more ACEs, there is a comparatively weaker link between immediate improvements in one's conflict management and later improvements in one's own relationship quality, although positive links were still detected. Further discussion and implications of the study findings for research and practice are offered in the following sections.

# Improvements in Conflict Management, Partner Care, and Self-Care Drive Improvements in Relationship Quality

Given some mixed findings regarding the impact of CRE programs (e.g., Wood et al., 2010), the need to understand mechanisms and patterns of change after CRE has long been recognized (Markman & Rhoades, 2012). The *National Extension Relationship and Marriage Education Model (NERMEM)* outlines seven core research-based concepts to address in relationship education (Futris & Adler-Baeder, 2013), thus providing a broader range of seven participant skills to assess as predictors of relationship quality change after CRE: self-care, choose, know, care, share, manage, and connect (Adler-Baeder, Futris, et al., 2022). A recent study validated the *NERMEM* assumption that improvements in these seven skills, assessed as a

composite measure, predicted later improvements in relationship quality (Adler-Baeder, McGill, et al., 2022). The current study is the first to disaggregate the skills and test individual skills' prospective links to later relationship quality. Assessing individual skills as mechanisms of change leads to information on which of the seven skills may be most salient for relational gains after CRE, especially for program designs based in *NERMEM*, such as the one tested in the current study.

We first used a novel data-driven approach to selecting which couple relationship skills we would test as predictors of later change in relationship quality. Studies exploring mechanisms of relationship quality change after CRE tend to use assumptions from basic relationship science to select potential prospective mediators. By first understanding in which couple skills participants reported the most change among the broad range of skills-training in the curriculum, and whether and how those reported changes are linked to longer-term outcomes, our approach is more informative for CRE programs based in the *NERMEM*. Our findings add to the support for the role of positive and negative communication in promoting relationship quality by prospectively documenting that conflict management skills and care for partner predicted longerterm improvements in relationship quality (Carlson et al., 2022; Le et al., 2020; Rauer et al., 2014). We also contribute novel findings regarding the role of self-care.

Based in assumptions from several decades of basic science highlighting the importance of communication skills such as conflict management for overall relationship satisfaction and well-being (e.g., Gottman et al., 1998; Karney & Bradbury, 1995), experts expect improvements in communication skills to drive improvements in overall relationship quality. According to the few studies that assess communication as a mechanism of relationship quality change after CRE, it is not empirically clear whether this is comparatively the most potent predictor of

improvements in relationship quality compared to other types of relational skills. Studies using observational coding systems to measure communication have found unexpected, mixed, or non-significant links between improvements in communication and improvements in self-reported relational well-being (Baucom et al., 2006; Schilling et al., 2003; Stanley et al., 2007, Williamson et al., 2016). On the other hand, support for communication-related mechanisms of change is consistent across studies that assess communication using self-report Likert-type survey measures (Barton et al., 2017; Hawkins et al., 2017; Le et al., 2020; Rauer et al., 2014; Roddy et al., 2020). This broad overview of existing studies provides some indication that reporter bias is likely at play that may include social desirability biases within self-report survey measures of communication and conflict management and relationship quality.

The current study's findings are consistent with other studies using self-report measures and found that immediate self-reported improvements in conflict management predicted later improvements in one's report of their relationship quality. Symbolic interactionism suggests that one will make meaning of events and circumstances based on one's own unique experiences, and that one's interpretation can be very different than others' (Blumer, 1969). It also assumes that perceptions are related to consequences. Thus, it makes sense that self-reported communication and conflict management, as compared to observer-coded, may be a better predictor of selfreported relationship quality.

Symbolic interactionism assumptions may also explain why, despite the expectation of partner influences, no partner influences were found for conflict management. One's own interpretation of their own experiences in conflict and conflict management behaviors may not be consistent with one's partner's perceptions. In other words, it may not be as evident to a partner that the other has improved in their relationship skills. Subsequently, they may not report

a related improvement in relationship quality. Based on these symbolic interactionist assumptions, including an assessment of partners' reports of one's couple relationship skills would improve our understanding of dyadic processes of change after CRE.

A related but distinct skill area also found to be driving improvements in an individual's report of their relationship quality was their improvements in other-oriented care for partner. The partner care behaviors assessed in the current study are related to the other-oriented positive interactions assessed by Rauer et al. (2014), who adapted Huston and Vangelisti's (1991) positive interactions scale. Consistent with Rauer et al.'s findings, the current study found that self-reported improvements in partner care behaviors (e.g., saying "I love you," showing physical affection, saying things you appreciate about partner) predicted later improvements in one's own relationship quality. Research shows that feeling and expressing gratitude is associated with both individual (Wood, Froh, et al., 2010) and relational well-being (Fincham & Beach, 2013).

Notably, we expected that individuals' increased partner care behaviors would also be linked to improvements in their partners' report of relationship quality since the caring behaviors are directed at the partner; however, this expectation was not supported. Similar to the case made for conflict management, symbolic interactionism may explain why no partner influence was detected. One may believe that they have improved in showing affection and appreciation more frequently after the program, but one's partner may not interpret the behavior as an increase in display of appreciation and affection. This immediate influence of one's own behavior change is substantial, as it still has a significant effect on that individual's assessment of their relationship quality almost one year later. Overall, our findings suggest that including practices in expressing gratitude for partners is warranted in CRE and overall affirm CRE efforts to boost

communication in times of stress (i.e., conflict management) as well as in times of appreciation (e.g., care). Additionally, partner reports of one's changes in skills may be more valuable in testing influences of one's skill improvements on their partner's reports of relationship functioning.

The current study's finding regarding the positive influence of self-care in one's own relational well-being is arguably the most novel contribution from RQ 1 findings to the study of mechanisms of relationship quality change after CRE. Researchers in basic and applied relationship science have long recognized the reciprocal link between individual and relational well-being (Bradford et al., 2014; Braithwaite & Holt-Lunstad, 2017; Cooper et al., 2021; Whisman & Baucom, 2012). In CRE research, concurrent and prospective links between improvements in individual mental health and relationship functioning have been documented (Bradford et al., 2014; Cooper et al., 2021). By improving self-care practices, individuals improve individual health and subjective well-being. These effects can spill over into individuals' relational health. This study adds to the literature on the links between mental and relational health in CRE participants by pointing to specific self-care behaviors related to individual functioning that can promote relational functioning.

Explanations for the prospective link between improvements in self-care practices and improvements in one's own relationship quality could be explained by improved mindfulness, self-awareness, emotion regulation, positive affect, and decreased stress (Brown & Ryan, 2003; Cross et al., 2018; Driver & Gottman, 2004; Karremans et al., 2017). Thus, the potential underlying, more detailed mechanisms of the link between improved self-care and later improvements in relationship quality are likely primarily internal, individual processes; however such internal processes of change after CRE are yet to be tested. This individual process may

also explain the lack of partner effects of immediate improvements in self-care on later improvements in the partner's report of relationship quality. Specific self-care items assessed in the current study include managing challenges, asking for help, recognizing strengths, managing stress, eating healthy meals, exercise, sleep, and quiet time for oneself. CRE participants' relational health, in addition to physical and mental health, would benefit from knowledge and skills practice related to these self-care behaviors.

#### The Role of Couple ACEs in Skills-Related Mechanisms of Change

Another significant novel contribution of this study involves the testing of the role of childhood adversity in mechanisms of change after CRE. The influence of cumulative ACEs for the individual's later health and well-being has been recognized since the seminal ACEs study (Felitti et al., 1998), and the systemic nature of traumatic stress within couples has been acknowledged by some scholars for decades (Nelson & Wampler, 2000; Nelson Goff & Smith, 2005). While there is some literature on relationship functioning in single- and dual-trauma couples (considering whether only one or both partners have experienced trauma) in clinical literature, the current study is the first to consider the cumulative effect of ACEs between both partners, or a "cumulative couple ACEs" measure. Recent reports on the rates of ACEs in federally funded CRE samples (Cooper et al., 2023a, Wheeler et al., 2021) also highlight the importance of combining trauma-informed and systemic approaches in the study of CRE, and this study is the first to do so.

Previous research on ACEs in CRE samples found that while more ACEs have been associated with lower relationship functioning at CRE program start (Cooper et al., 2023a; Cooper et al., 2023b; Wheeler et al., 2019), one's level of ACEs did not influence CRE program effects on relationship quality after CRE (Cooper et al., 2023b) suggesting that CRE positively

impacts relationship quality similarly for participants regardless of ACEs. Additionally, individuals' improvements in romantic self-efficacy were found to predict later improvements in relationship quality after CRE regardless of ACEs (Cooper et al., 2023b). There is some evidence that more ACEs may even be related to greater reductions in individual distress after relationship education for individuals, not couples, when those with the most and those with the least number of ACEs are compared (Wheeler, Griffith, et al., 2020). The current study generally finds that those with higher ACEs experience similar processes of change when considering change in self-care, conflict management, and partner care; however, it is the first to indicate that ACEs may weaken the link between a positive proximal outcome (i.e., conflict management) and a distal program outcome, relationship quality.

Considering the individual processes involved in conflict management (e.g., emotion regulation), it may be a particularly challenging skill area for couples who have experienced adversity. Although weak, correlations between baseline conflict management and cumulative couple ACEs as well as residual change scores for conflict management and cumulative couple ACEs in the current sample may support this assumption. Post-hoc bivariate correlations suggest that more cumulative couple ACEs are linked to less improvement in conflict management (as indicated by residual change scores) for Partner 2 (r = -.11, p = .04), and a similar pattern is trending for Partner 1 (r = -.10, p = .06). Thus, the link between changes in conflict management and later changes in relationship quality may be due to comparatively less change in conflict management for couples with more ACEs.

We can also look to related literature for consideration of micro-processes that may be at play for individuals and couples with more ACEs and that can be considered in future studies. Adversity and trauma in childhood can disrupt healthy nervous system development and lead to

hyperactive threat perceptions and stress responses which can make self-regulation and emotion regulation challenging for individuals (Leitch, 2017; Porges, 2011). Individual challenges in selfand emotion regulation are critical elements of couple processes in conflict management, emotional and physical intimacy, and others (Nelson Goff & Smith, 2005). Early reflections on trauma within clinic couples suggest these processes are even more challenging for dual-trauma couples (Balcom, 1996). Our findings support the general idea that higher total ACEs between partners may present some risks to conflict management skill development and it is likely that emotion-regulation and self-regulation skills are factors involved.

#### **Practical Implications**

The current findings validate practical applications of basic science that inform potential modifiable traits linked with relationship functioning such as *NERMEM* and the *ELEVATE* program built on this model. By assessing individual couple relationship skills emphasized in the *NERMEM* and the *ELEVATE* curriculum, instead of a composite measure of the skills, we were able to underscore the distinct value of teaching conflict management, partner care, and self-care in CRE programs. Because conflict management, partner care, and self-care improved the most in the current sample compared to the other couple relationship skills assessed and drive later improvements in relationship quality, they may be some of the most crucial content elements in CRE based in *NERMEM*. Improving conflict management and communication processes among couples has been a long-held priority of CRE programs (Halford et al., 2003; Stanley et al., 2020). The current findings validate the assumptions that improving conflict management promotes relationship quality after CRE. Importantly, conflict management is shown to be comparatively the most malleable of the skills addressed. Complementing John Gottman's early work that first implied the importance of reducing negative interactions during conflict and

improving positive interactions (Gottman et al., 1998), increasing actions demonstrating care for partner is also critical. We encourage curriculum developers and CRE program staff and facilitators to continue prioritizing conflict management and other-oriented care for partner.

Our novel finding regarding self-care highlights the importance of including self-care information and skills practice in CRE. Curriculum developers and program staff may consider program goals related to improving individuals' ability to manage challenges, asking for help, recognizing strengths, managing stress, eating healthy meals, exercise, sleep, and quiet time for oneself. Both curricula used in the current study, *ELEVATE* (Futris & Adler-Baeder, 2014) and *Couples Connection Mindfully* (McGill et al., 2016) include an emphasis on self-care. One module is dedicated to self-care in *ELEVATE*, and the foundation of *Couples Connecting Mindfully* is mindfulness-based stress management for the individual and partners as a couple. The current study validates these efforts in CRE focused on self-care.

Our findings also suggest that the link between conflict management and relationship quality after CRE is weaker for couples with more ACEs due to comparatively less change in conflict management for those with higher cumulative couple ACEs. A starting place for CRE practitioners to address this could include additional conflict management assessments for couples or populations who report more ACEs and acknowledgement that this area may be challenging for couples with more ACEs. According to pre-program assessments of conflict management, practitioners could also consider allocating more time to content and skills practice related to individual and couple processes that influence conflict management in populations with greater ACEs, including an emphasis on emotion regulation. Psychoeducation on trauma and its effects, physiological stress responses, and emotions as well as mindfulness practices, somatic awareness practices, grounding techniques, and cognitive reappraisal could be integrated

for such populations (Leitch, 2017; Nelson Goff & Smith, 2005; Van der Kolk, 2014). This information and these skills can lead to enhanced self-awareness, emotion identification, and emotion regulation. These are key individual skills underlying conflict management that may be especially important for individuals with more ACEs (Leitch, 2017; Nelson Goff & Smith, 2005).

# Limitations

The current study has many strengths including its large, racially and ethnically diverse community-based sample of couples, the use of longitudinal and dyadic data, and its data-driven approach in selecting mechanisms of relationship quality change to test. There are also limitations to consider. The current study used self-report measures which may introduce measurement bias. Additionally, ACE items may be subject to recall bias, as we assess adversity before age 18, and our sample ranges from 19 to 90 years of age (Median = 36). This study also did not distinguish between the influence of one's own level of ACEs versus the influence of their partner's level of ACEs. While assessing ACEs at the couple level is valuable and was a novel feature of the study, it may also be valuable to examine actor and partner influences of ACEs on relationship functioning before and after CRE. Also, the ACEs Scale used in the current study only captured child maltreatment and household experiences of adversity. Recent literature on ACEs recognizes the impact of community-level ACEs such as neighborhood violence, discrimination, and bullying, and those items are not assessed in the current study. Lastly, while the current study made a conscious effort to be inclusive of same-gender couples in its analytical sample, the number of same-gender couples was still small (n = 8 couples). Thus, implications and conclusions from the current cannot be generalized to sexual and gender minority (SGM) populations.

# **Future Directions and Conclusions**

Using a prevention science approach (Coie et al., 1993) and assumptions from interdependence theory (Kelley & Thibaut, 1978), we validated efforts to prioritize content related to conflict management, partner care, and self-care in CRE programs. Improvements in these skill areas were the greatest and predicted improvements in one's own relationship quality one year after enrolling in CRE. We did not find evidence for partner effects of immediate improvements in conflict management, partner care, or self-care, indicating that in the current sample, only individuals' own improvements are driving later improvements in their relationship quality. Additionally, this study is the first to find that more ACEs may weaken the prospective associations between changes in conflict management and relationship quality. Notably, gender was not assessed in the current study. CRE could influence-or CRE outcomes could be influenced by—patterns to which heterosexual couples default due to gender socialization. As such, future assessments in heterosexual samples may explore dyadic processes of change and consider the role of gender. Observational studies in heterosexual couples testing communication as a mechanism of change after CRE suggest that there may be gender differences in how changes in communication influences later relationship quality. While this study was intentional in being inclusive of same-gender couples, other studies may examine this process in heterosexual couples. The mechanisms of change validated in the current study should also be tested in samples with greater proportions of SGM participants, as this study's small number of same-gender couples does not allow us to generalize the current findings to SGM couples.

We encourage future research that explores partner effects at later time points after CRE. As individuals have more time to practice and improve skills learned in CRE, these individual

improvements may have more time to take effect between partners (i.e., one's partner may notice and be influenced by one's skill improvements more as time goes on). It also would be valuable to include partners' reports of skills rather than just self-report.

We encourage CRE scholars to continue exploring the role of ACEs for CRE participants before and after programming. Intentionally taking a trauma-informed approach to the study and practice of CRE will serve to strengthen its impact, especially in diverse and underserved populations. Dyadic and couple-level adversity and resiliency should also continue to be explored, as this study and others demonstrate the systemic and interdependent influence of adversity and trauma and the protective value of resiliency factors. Person-centered approaches exploring adversity and resiliency profiles among couples could particularly deepen our understanding of the variability and diversity among populations with ACEs, as well as inform prevention and intervention efforts.

Future studies should also explore other skills and potential resiliency factors that may promote relationship quality for couples with greater ACEs. It could be that focusing on other skills and resiliency factors such as emotion regulation and stress management may be more effective for populations with greater ACEs. It would also be worth exploring how changes in couple relationship skills influence each other. For example, improvements in self-care may enable later changes in conflict management, as individual emotional well-being, assumed to be improved through self-care practices (Futris & Adler-Baeder, 2013), is linked to dyadic processes such as conflict management (Bloch et al., 2014; Nelson Goff & Smtih, 2005). Continuing to test complex longitudinal processes of change models and considering risks such as ACEs will inform best practices in CRE for economically diverse and marginalized populations.

Table 1. Descriptive statistics for all Study 1 variables.

						Skewness		Kurtosis	
	Ν	Min.	Max.	Mean	SD	Stat	SE	Stat	SE
T1 DA	366	11.00	67.00	53.95	11.20	-1.12	0.13	1.21	0.25
ΠKŲ	366	13.00	67.00	54.24	10.58	-1.05	0.13	0.78	0.25
T1 Self-Care	366	13.00	56.00	35.89	7.02	0.05	0.13	0.20	0.25
	366	11.00	56.00	36.43	7.43	-0.25	0.13	0.20	0.25
T1 Choose	366	5.05	28.00	22.95	3.66	-0.72	0.13	1.18	0.25
	366	8.85	28.00	23.10	3.67	-0.54	0.13	-0.03	0.25
T1 Know	366	9.00	28.00	22.33	3.69	-0.42	0.13	0.05	0.25
II KIIOW	366	4.00	28.00	22.56	3.97	-0.71	0.13	0.96	0.25
T1 Share	366	3.00	21.00	14.66	4.18	-0.46	0.13	-0.35	0.25
11 Share	366	3.00	21.00	14.62	4.04	-0.41	0.13	-0.16	0.25
T1 Care	366	4.00	28.00	21.48	5.23	-0.85	0.13	0.12	0.25
11 Care	366	4.00	28.00	21.92	5.10	-0.92	0.13	0.42	0.25
T1 Manage	366	10.00	35.00	23.71	4.91	-0.09	0.13	-0.32	0.25
11 Manage	366	7.00	35.00	24.17	5.01	0.07	0.13	-0.25	0.25
T1 Connect	366	4.00	28.00	21.40	4.67	-0.84	0.13	1.20	0.25
11 connect	366	4.00	28.00	21.80	4.47	-0.90	0.13	1.18	0.25
T2 Self-Care	366	14.00	56.00	38.03	7.13	-0.05	0.13	0.28	0.25
	366	10.00	56.00	38.64	7.06	-0.25	0.13	0.37	0.25
T2 Choose	366	7.00	28.00	23.48	3.66	-0.58	0.13	0.31	0.25
12 Choose	366	5.00	28.00	23.68	3.82	-0.91	0.13	1.36	0.25
T2 Know	366	10.55	28.00	22.97	3.55	-0.21	0.13	-0.47	0.25
	366	4.00	28.00	23.35	3.77	-1.10	0.13	3.36	0.25
T2 Share	366	3.00	21.00	15.64	3.53	-0.47	0.13	0.13	0.25
	366	3.00	21.00	15.62	3.77	-0.58	0.13	0.13	0.25
T2 Care	366	4.00	28.00	23.08	4.70	-1.21	0.13	1.55	0.25
	366	4.00	28.00	23.08	4.72	-1.22	0.13	1.49	0.25
T2 Manage	366	15.00	35.00	25.48	4.66	0.17	0.13	-0.38	0.25
	366	10.00	35.00	25.80	4.44	-0.03	0.13	-0.04	0.25
T2 Connect	366	4.00	28.00	22.07	4.04	-0.54	0.13	0.56	0.25
	366	4.00	28.00	22.32	4.30	-1.06	0.13	2.56	0.25
T4 RO	366	10.55	67.00	54.50	10.78	-1.01	0.13	0.68	0.25
Y NY	366	10.00	67.00	56.14	10.06	-1.28	0.13	1.71	0.25
Couple ACEs	409	0.00	15.00	3.09	2.90	1.11	0.12	1.12	0.24

Note. Partner 1 results are in regular font, and Partner 2 results are in bolded font.

	N	T1 <i>M</i>	SD	T2 M	SD	t	df	р	Cohen's d
Relationship	366	53.95	11.23	55.24	10.26	-2.95	4573	.003	16
Quality	366	54.24	10.58	56.23	10.45	-4.66	5885	<.001	25
Salf Care	366	35.89	7.02	38.03	7.13	-7.13	2398	<.001	-0.39
Sen-Care	366	36.43	7.43	38.64	7.06	-7.14	13721	<.001	-0.38
	366	22.95	3.66	23.48	3.66	-2.92	5826	0.003	-0.16
Choose	366	23.10	3.67	23.68	3.82	-3.40	3094	<.001	-0.18
Know	366	22.33	3.69	22.97	3.55	-3.44	2060	<.001	-0.19
	366	22.56	3.97	23.35	3.77	-3.98	8147	<.001	-0.21
<u> </u>	366	14.66	4.18	15.64	3.53	-5.14	3071	<.001	-0.28
Snare	366	14.62	4.04	15.62	3.77	-5.47	6707	<.001	-0.29
Care	366	21.48	5.23	23.08	4.70	-7.60	4948	< .001	-0.41
	366	21.92	5.10	23.08	4.72	-5.80	15526	<.001	-0.31
Manage	366	23.71	4.91	25.48	4.66	-8.30	16195	<.001	-0.44
	366	24.17	5.01	25.80	4.44	-7.68	11363	<.001	-0.41
<u> </u>	366	21.40	4.67	22.07	4.04	-3.24	38187	0.001	-0.17
Connect	366	21.80	4.47	22.32	4.30	-2.81	2244	0.005	-0.15

Table 2. Results of *t*-tests demonstrating significant improvements in relationship quality and couple relationship skills.

Note. Partner 1 results are in regular font, and Partner 2 results are in bolded font.

	T1RQ Partner 1	T1RQ Partner 2	T1Self- Care Partner 1	T1Self- Care Partner 2	T1 Manage Partner 1	T1 Manage Partner 2	T1 Care Partner 1	T1 Care Partner 2	Couple ACEs
T1 RQ Partner 1	1								
T1 RQ Partner 2	.60***	1							
T1Self-Care Partner 1	.40***	.36***	1						
T1Self-Care Partner 2	.37***	.43***	.43***	1					
T1 Manage Partner 1	.46***	.40***	.52***	.30***	1				
T1 Manage Partner 2	.34***	.48***	.27***	.39***	.34***	1			
T1 Care Partner 1	.54***	.39***	.35***	.19***	.37***	.26***	1		
T1 Care Partner 2	.39***	.43***	.20***	.30***	.26***	.33***	.59***	1	
Couple ACEs	19***	20***	28***	18***	16**	17**	01	003	1

Table 3. Bivariate correlations at baseline among variables used in Study 1 primary analyses



Figure 1. Dyadic prospective associations among immediate improvements in self-care and later improvements in relationship quality

*Note.* Unstandardized beta coefficients are presented with standardized coefficients in parantheses. \*\*\*p < .001, \*\*p < .01, \*p < .05,  $^{\dagger}p < .10$ 

Figure 2. Dyadic prospective associations among immediate improvements in conflict management and later improvements in relationship quality



*Note.* Unstandardized beta coefficients are presented with standardized coefficients in parantheses. \*\*\*p < .001, \*\*p < .01, \*p < .05,  $^{\dagger}p < .10$ 

Figure 3. Dyadic prospective associations among immediate improvements in partner care and later improvements in relationship quality



*Note.* Unstandardized beta coefficients are presented with standardized coefficients in parantheses. \*\*\*p < .001, \*\*p < .01, \*p < .05,  $^{\dagger}p < .10$ 

Figure 4. The moderating effect of Couple ACEs on the link between one's immediate improvements in conflict management on improvements in their own relationship quality one year after program enrollment



# III. Study 2 – ACE Dimensions, Couple-focused Mindfulness, and Romantic Self-efficacy: Latent Profiles of Risk & Resilience

Decades of research have documented the robust association between adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and negative physical health and mental health outcomes (Felitti et al., 1998; Hughes et al., 2017). Although many scholars acknowledge the interconnectedness of physical, mental, and relational well-being, the body of research exploring the cumulative influence of early adversity on couple relationships in adulthood is scarce. Individual early adverse experiences, such as child maltreatment, parental divorce, witnessing domestic violence, and their later effects on relationship functioning and stability have been explored extensively, and negative associations are well-documented (e.g., Amato 2010; Cao et al., 2022; Costa et al., 2015; Zamir, 2022). For example, a review of 43 studies concluded that a history of child maltreatment including physical abuse and neglect, emotional abuse and neglect, and sexual abuse were associated with lower relationship quality in men and women (Zamir, 2022). Additionally, a review of the literature on divorce from the early 2000s highlighted that parental divorce was associated with more relationship problems and relationship dissolution (Amato, 2010).

Most of the assessments of the number of ACEs link to adult relationships focus on later violence victimization and perpetration (e.g., Bellis et al., 2014; Miller et al., 2011; Whitfield et al., 2003). Meta-analytic results from nine studies demonstrate that interpersonal violence victimization and perpetration (including that of intimate partner violence) is positively linked to number of ACEs (Hughes et al., 2017). The eight studies that have specifically explored the link between cumulative adverse experiences measured by the ACEs scale (Anda et al., 2009; Felitti et al., 1998) and negative but less serious couple relationship outcomes documented that higher levels of ACEs are negatively associated with relationship functioning such as relationship

quality (Andersson et al., 2021; Cooper et al., 2023a; Cooper et al., 2023b; Khalifian et al., 2022; Peterson et al., 2022; Wheeler et al., 2019; Wheeler et al., 2020; Wheeler et al., 2021).

While the ACEs framework has shed needed light on the cumulative effects of ACEs, it was designed as a screening index measure which limits the interpretation of findings in the study of couple relationships. With only a cumulative count of ACEs we have no information on how different ACEs may differentially impact later functioning. In the study of relationships, it is also noteworthy that studies have not considered the combined couple ACEs experiences and their meaningfulness for adult relationships. The current study will address these gaps by exploring typologies, or profiles, of couple ACEs and related individual and relational characteristics. Efforts to use a dimensional approach, as compared to a simple additive index of an individual's ACEs, may reveal more nuance related to the mechanisms by which ACEs are associated with later relational functioning (McLaughlin & Sheridan, 2016; Miller et al., 2018).

The widespread awareness of trauma that can be credited to the ACEs framework and seminal ACEs study (Felitti et al., 1998) raised needed awareness of the implications of ACEs. However, the framework also led to a heavy emphasis on the study of negative outcomes without also giving adequate attention to resilience after adversity (Leitch, 2017). Understanding the more complex patterns among ACEs, resiliency factors, and adult functioning is important for revealing skills and characteristics that may be associated with healthy adaptation after experiencing adversity and that can be strengthened through intervention. Two resiliency factors that are often a focus in trauma therapy and have been found in empirical studies to have a stronger link with relationship functioning than number of ACEs are mindfulness and self-efficacy (Benight & Bandura 2004; Cooper et al., 2023b; Hopwood & Schutte, 2017). These are characteristics that individuals and couples can develop that could be protective against potential negative effects of childhood adversity. Importantly, self-efficacy and mindfulness are both traits

that can be enhanced through community-based prevention programs for couples, such as couple relationship education (CRE), and may then lead to improved relational health despite ACEs (Cooper et al., 2023b).

Further, while individual mindfulness has long been applied to relational contexts (Burrows, 2011; Kabat-Zinn & Kabat-Zinn, 1998), the concept of couple-focused mindfulness has more recently been defined in the mindfulness literature (Karremans et al., 2017; McGill et al., 2022). Couple-focused mindfulness is the "intentional awareness and observation of one's own thoughts and emotions in interactions with one's partner approached with patience, openness, nonjudgement, and compassion" (p. 2300, McGill et al., 2022). Despite the link between ACEs, relationship functioning, and the protective role of general individual mindfulness, no study has assessed couple-focused mindfulness as a resiliency factor in the context of ACEs.

Thus, the current study, will take a risk and resilience approach and determine distinct profiles of risk (as indicated by types and number of ACEs experienced by each partner) and resiliency (as indicated by couple-focused mindfulness and romantic self-efficacy levels) among couples enrolled in CRE at program start. Further, this study will assess differences in demographic characteristics, as well as individual and couple functioning among risk and resiliency profiles. Identifying more distinct types of couple profiles of risk related to ACEs will serve to inform future explorations of CRE program effectiveness for diverse populations.

# **Theoretical Framework**

Prevention science is an interdisciplinary approach at the intersection of human science research and practice, as its main goal is to prevent major human dysfunction (Coie et a., 1993). Prevention science emphasizes the study of antecedents of negative outcomes (risk factors) and characteristics or circumstances that work to moderate such risks (protective factors). Taking

assumptions from resilience theory (Masten, 2001; Masten & Cincchetti, 2016), a prevention science approach recognizes that individuals who face adversity have the potential to adapt and develop skills, traits, and resources that are protective against negative outcomes related to adversity. As such, prevention science emphasizes the role of prevention and intervention programs that aim to prevent risk factors and promote protective factors to support healthy development. The field of prevention science highlights that prevention and intervention programs should be based in basic research of risk and protective factors. Applied research on such programs is then crucial to provide continued insight on ways to attenuate risk and promote resilience.

The current study utilized a sample from community-based couple relationship education, a preventative approach to promoting healthy relationships. We expect that partners in prevention programs for couples influence one another before, during, and after CRE, and this expectation is based on interdependence theory (Kelley & Thibaut, 1978; Wickham & Knee, 2012). Specifically, we expect that each partner's level of risk and resilience would influence the other partner's relational and couple functioning as well as their relationship overall.

In the proposed study, we also took a dimensional approach to studying adversity by considering conceptually two types of adversity. While much of the research on ACEs and childhood adversity takes an overall cumulative risk approach (Rutter, 1979; Appleyard et al., 2005) by assessing the link between the *number of adverse experiences* and health outcomes, understanding the unique influence of *distinct dimensions of adversity* may help uncover mechanisms linking ACEs and later health (McLaughlin & Sheridan, 2016; Miller et al., 2018). McLaughlin & Sheridan (2016) introduced the two-dimensional conceptualization of early adverse experiences that may influence development and functioning differentially: deprivation and threat. Deprivation refers to adversity in which expected inputs or supports that are

necessary for healthy development are absent. Threat, on the other hand, refers to adversity that involves violence or harm, or threat of violence or harm. While the application of this dimensional approach is growing in the study of effects of ACEs in adult functioning (e.g., Clark et al., 2023; Hawkins et al., 2021; Lin et al., 2022), no previous work in the study of relationships has applied these concepts to categorize the experiences assessed on the ACEs scale.

# **ACEs and Adult Functioning**

For the past two decades, research support has been accumulating on the potential negative health outcomes in adults who report adverse childhood experiences (ACEs; Hughes et al., 2017). ACEs are experiences of abuse, neglect, or other household or community challenges in childhood that are harmful, distressing, and often chronic and traumatizing (Felitti et al., 1998; Kalmakis & Chandler, 2014; Wade et al., 2016). The seminal CDC study introducing the ACEs framework (Felitti et al., 1998) was the first to highlight that traumatic events in childhood and stressful home environments increase the risk of negative health outcomes in adulthood, including many chronic diseases, infectious diseases, injuries such as fractures and traumatic brain injuries, and poorer mental health. This study introduced the ACE Scale, an index of 10 childhood events, that allowed practitioners in the medical field to briefly assess for such social determinants of health.

The ACE Scale and framework is now widely used by practitioners and researchers across many medical and social science disciplines, and in the two decades since the CDC study was first published, the link between having more ACEs and lower health and well-being is a robust finding (Anda et al., 2009; CDC, 2020; Hughes et al., 2017). For example, higher numbers of ACEs are associated with poor health behaviors such as smoking, excessive alcohol use, risky sexual behaviors, and physical inactivity (Hughes et al., 2017). Additionally, more

ACEs are linked to higher risk for longer-term health outcomes such as heart diseases, respiratory diseases, liver diseases, cancer, diabetes, and even earlier death (Hughes et al., 2017; Brown et al., 2009). Higher levels of ACEs are also associated with depression, anxiety, low life satisfaction, and suicidality, and these elements of mental health and distress are also likely contributors to poorer physical health (Danese & McEwen, 2012; Hughes et al., 2017; O'Conner et al., 2021).

Another factor related to ACEs, mental well-being, and physical health is relational health (Umberson & Karas Montes, 2010; Wheeler et al., 2019). While the influence of early childhood experiences on later relational functioning has long been of interest (e.g., Hunter, 1991; Whisman, 2006), it is only recently that relationship scholars have been exploring the cumulative effects of ACEs on relational functioning among individuals and couples. Number of cumulative ACEs has been linked to lower relationship quality as well as higher relationship distress (Wheeler et al., 2019; Wheeler et al., 2020). Further, the five studies of the dyadic influence of cumulative ACEs on relationship functioning demonstrated ACEs' negative association with an individual's own relationship functioning, as well as their partner's (Andersson et al., 2021; Cooper et al., 2023a; Khalifian et al., 2022; Peterson et al., 2022; Wheeler et al., 2021).

Importantly, not all demographic groups are at the same risk for ACEs. The original ACEs study was completed with a mostly white and middle-class sample (Felitti et al., 1998). More recent reports from more racially and economically diverse samples demonstrate that respondents who are Black or Hispanic, queer, and those who have fewer economic resources report more ACEs, on average, than others (Child Trends, 2019; Conger et al., 2010; Gill & Page, 2006; Merrick et al., 2018; Zielinski, 2009). Consistent with these studies, recent and more diverse samples of relationship education participants report more ACEs proportionally

compared to those reported in the original study. While the original study (Felitti et al., 1998) found that about 52% of respondents in their study reported at least one ACE, recent reports suggest that up to 76% of relationship education participants report at least one ACE. Additionally, up to 30% report four or more ACEs (Cooper et al., 2023a; Wheeler et al., 2019) compared to 6% in the original study (Felitti et al., 1998).

Efforts have been advanced more recently to expand the conceptualization of ACEs to include community-level adversity including neighborhood violence and discrimination that occur in lower resourced and racially marginalized communities (Wade et al., 2016). Community-level ACEs, referred to here as extrafamilial ACEs, include witnessing violence in the community, felt discrimination, feeling like the neighborhood was unsafe, bullying, and ever living in foster care (Cronholm et al., 2015; Wade et al., 2016). Findings from studies assessing extrafamilial ACEs demonstrate that community-level ACEs are more likely to occur among communities of color and among those in poverty (Cronholm et al., 2015). Like the original intrafamilial-focused ACEs, having more extrafamilial ACEs has been linked to poorer health behaviors and outcomes including substance abuse, sexually transmitted infections, and clinical depression (Lee et al., 2023; Wade et al., 2016). The concept of extrafamilial ACEs has advanced the study of ACEs among diverse populations, but there is still much left to learn. Specifically, no study has used this expanded ACE assessment including extrafamilial ACEs in exploring the link between ACEs and relational outcomes. Further, extrafamilial ACEs have not been examined among relationship education participants.

Additionally, no study exploring the effects of ACEs on relational functioning has used a dimensional approach (Sheridan & McLaughlin, 2014). A dimensional approach in the study of ACEs allows for more nuanced tests of the effects of ACEs. It appears that both threat and deprivation ACEs are positively linked to increased risks of suicide attempts, psychiatric

diagnoses, and substance use/dependence diagnoses (Lin et al., 2022; Sosnowski et al., 2022). However, higher economic status was found to be protective against depression among adults who had deprivation ACEs, but not threat ACEs (Lin et al., 2022). This suggests that there are likely both similarities and distinctions in the underlying mechanisms linking deprivation and threat ACEs to adult outcomes, depending on the outcome and the context. A dimensional approach in the study of ACEs' effects on relational outcomes may reveal such nuance in the link between ACEs and relational functioning. It is likely that experiences of threat early in life have different implications for relationship functioning later in life than early experiences of deprivation. Such findings would provide further insight to specific skills that can be emphasized in prevention and intervention programs among groups who experience ACEs.

# **Resiliency Factors**

As a counter to the deficit approach to research on risk factors and outcomes, resiliency expectations suggest the attenuation of risk in the presence of protective factors. While early research on resilience aimed to understand resilience as a distinct trait, theorists more recently suggest that resilience is not a single trait that individuals either possess or lack, but resilience is one's ability to adapt in the context of adversity and chronic stress (Masten & Cincchetti, 2016). As such, resilience is dynamic and consists of many psychological, neurobiological, and contextual traits and processes. Characteristics and processes associated with resilience include emotional support and security, meaning-making, self-regulation, and positive family relationships and friendships, (Masten & Cincchetti, 2016).

Two characteristics that have been linked to ACEs both as potential negative outcomes and as possible resiliency factors are self-efficacy and mindfulness (Benight & Bandura 2004; Whitaker et al., 2014). Traumatic experiences such as ACEs can negatively influence one's sense of predictability and control in life, and this can negatively impact one's sense of self-efficacy

(i.e., the concept of one's functional effectiveness in any given context; Bandura, 1997). Individuals with trauma histories can also resort to experiential avoidance as a way of coping with trauma's negative effects, which is in opposition to principles of mindfulness (Follette et al., 2004; Follette et al., 2006). Mindfulness is defined as nonjudgmental awareness and acceptance of one's inner experience at any given moment (Bishop et al., 2004; Kabat-Zinn, 2003) and this may be especially challenging post-trauma and adverse experiences (Follette et al., 2004; Follette et al., 2006).

While those with more ACEs may, on average, have lower levels of mindfulness and self-efficacy, it also true that those with more ACEs can have or can develop higher levels of mindfulness and self-efficacy and that this combination can result in better individual well-being (e.g., Hopwood & Schutte, 2017; Masten & Cincchetti, 2016; Whitaker et al., 2014). Self-efficacy has been associated with resilience and post-traumatic growth, and individuals who have more self-efficacy have a greater sense of agency and respond to adversity with persistence (Benight & Bandura 2004; Masten & Cincchetti, 2016). Additionally, meta-analytic results from 18 studies utilizing 21 different samples demonstrate the effectiveness of mindfulness interventions in treating symptoms of post-traumatic stress such as emotional distress, intrusive memories, and avoidance (Follette et al., 2006; Hopwood & Schutte, 2017). The protective nature of mindfulness in the face of traumatic stress has been attributed to its focus on awareness of internal and external experiences in the present moment, instead of events of the past, and its principles of acceptance and nonjudgment of one's experiences (Follette et al., 2006).

Self-efficacy and mindfulness are ideal resilience factors to explore in a profile analysis with ACEs, because they are both negatively linked to trauma, however when higher levels after trauma are retained or attained, this indicates post-traumatic growth. While they may be similar in this way, they are distinct concepts that can differentially inform prevention efforts.

Importantly, while ACEs are past events that place people at risk for negative outcomes and cannot be changed, self-efficacy and mindfulness are characteristics that can be enhanced through skills training and practice. Considering modifiable resiliency factors in risk and resiliency profiles is most helpful in prevention science as we seek to minimize negative outcomes, even when risks cannot be reduced (as in the case of ACEs that have already occurred).

Important in relationship science and the study of couples, self-efficacy and mindfulness are also linked to relationship functioning. Romantic self-efficacy, which is a sense of agency in the specific domain of couple relationships, has been linked to greater relationship satisfaction and relationship commitment (Riggio et al., 2013), and may be a prominent domain of self-efficacy for individuals in couple relationships who experienced ACEs. A recent study explored the comparative strength of the links between romantic self-efficacy and ACEs within CRE participants and found that romantic-self efficacy had the more robust association with relationship quality compared to ACEs (Cooper et al., 2023b). Further, a robust link between mindfulness and relational health has also been documented. Meta-analytic findings from 28 studies (McGill et al., 2016; Quinn-Nilas, 2020) demonstrate a significant link between greater trait mindfulness and higher relationship quality. Although this is a new area of research, explanations for this link suggest that more mindful individuals tend to have better self-regulation, better self-other connectedness, more pro-relationship behaviors, and use more positive attributions (Adair et al., 2018; Karpen et al., 2018; Karpens et al., 2017).

Two recent studies examining links among ACEs, mindfulness, and relationship quality in CRE participants found a stronger association between individual mindfulness and relationship quality than ACEs and relationship quality before a CRE program (Cooper et al., 2023a; Cooper et al., 2023b). One of these studies (Cooper et al., 2023a) is the only known

dyadic assessment of ACEs, mindfulness, and relational health and found that while having more ACEs was associated with lower relationship quality for men and women, higher levels of individual mindfulness were more strongly linked to higher relationship quality for men and women. Additionally, men's ACEs were negatively linked to their partners' relationship quality; however, men's and women's mindfulness was more strongly and positively linked to their partners' reports of relationship quality compared to ACEs.

These assessments of mindfulness in the studies of couples all included measures of individual, more general, mindfulness. Recently, an effort to assess relational mindfulness (i.e., mindful practices within the context of relationships) is growing (e.g., Bently et al., 2019; Burrows, 2011; Kabat-Zinn & Kabat-Zinn, 1998). Relevant to the current study, a valid measure of couple-focused mindfulness has been developed (McGill, et al., 2022). In the measurement development study, an 8-factor couple-focused mindfulness construct was affirmed and importantly, was a more potent predictor of relationship quality compared to a measure of individual mindfulness.

# The Current Study

Based on the extant empirical background and rooted in prevention science principles, this study took a risk and resilience approach and incorporated theoretical assumptions from interdependence theory and a dimensional approach to childhood adversity. This study also took a person-centered approach and explored dyadic profiles of risk and resiliency factors using data collected at CRE program enrollment. This study also examined whether there were differences among risk and resiliency profiles in demographic characteristics and concurrent individual and relational functioning before a CRE program. Specifically, the following research questions were addressed:

**Research Question 1 (RQ1):** Are there distinct risk and resiliency couple profiles among CRE participants at program enrollment, as indicated by each partner's dimensions of ACEs (deprivation ACEs, threat ACEs), couple-focused mindfulness, & individual romantic self-efficacy?

**Research Question 2 (RQ2):** How do demographics such as race, relationship type (same gender/different gender), income, relationship length, relationship status, parental status, as well as relationship quality, relationship instability, and psychological distress differ according to risk and resiliency profiles?

# Methods

# Procedures

The data for this study were taken from a larger multi-site CRE study conducted in a southeastern state. Couples were recruited into a study comparing the effectiveness of weekly and monthly implementation models of the CRE program *ELEVATE: Taking Your Relationship to the Next Level* (Futris et al., 2014). Recruitment occurred through word of mouth, social media, fliers, and other media advertisements at five community agencies. To be enrolled, both partners had to be at least 19 years old, enroll as a couple, and be able to attend all class sessions. Once participants were enrolled into the study, they completed a baseline survey assessing demographic characteristics as well as many areas of individual, couple, and family functioning. Participants were compensated \$40 for completing the survey.

# **Participants**

Couples assigned to both implementation models were utilized in the current study, as only baseline data were used for analyses. However, participants must have completed all items on the ACEs questionnaire on the baseline survey to be included since these data were not imputed if items responses are missing. The total study sample was 921 couples (1604
individuals). An individual's partner was not required to complete the survey for the individual to be included in the sample, thus 238 (15%) individuals did not have a partner in the analytic sample. The sample was comprised of 54% (n = 865) women, 46% men (n = 730), and less than 1% (7 individuals) are non-binary or genderqueer. Ages in the sample ranged from 19 to 77, and the average age was 36.26 (SD = 10.53). Sixty-four percent of the current sample was married, while 31% were in a committed relationship or engaged. Four percent report that they were casually dating. One percent consider themselves in a committed relationship and eligible for the study, but reported they were currently separated. Ninety-five percent were in a different-gender relationship, 4% were in a same-gender relationship, and 1% report another relationship type. The sample was racially and economically diverse—47% percent of the current sample were African American or Black, 45% were Caucasian or white, and 8% reported another race or ethnicity. Fifteen percent reported an annual household income of less than \$20,000 per year, 20% reported \$20,000-\$40,000, 26% reported \$40,000-\$75,000, 17% reported \$75,000-\$100,000, and 22% reported earning over \$100,000 per year.

#### Measures

#### Childhood Adversity

Childhood Adversity was assessed using the Adverse Childhood Experiences Scale from the Philadelphia ACEs Study (Wade et al., 2016). This scale assesses nine intrafamilial ACEs that were originally assessed in the seminal CDC ACE study ("conventional ACEs"; Felitti et al., 1998), and six items that assess community-level, or extrafamilial, ACEs ("expanded ACEs"; Wade et al., 2016). In the current study, individual ACEs items were categorized based on the definitions of threat and deprivation provided by Miller et al. (2018). Threat ACEs included the seven items referencing experiences of emotional abuse, physical abuse, sexual abuse, witness domestic violence, witnessed community violence, being bullied, and racial discrimination.

Deprivation ACEs included the seven items referencing experiences of emotional neglect, physical neglect, parental addiction, parental mental health problems, parental incarceration, lack of support in their neighborhood, and being in foster care. See Appendix A for ACE items according to dimension. Number of deprivation (Range = 1-7) and threat (Range = 1-7) ACEs were summed separately to reflect cumulative risk of each ACE dimension.

### **Couple-Focused Mindfulness**

Each individual's level of couple-focused mindfulness was measured using the Mindfulness in Couple Relationships Scale (McGill et al., 2022). This newly-developed scale consists of 31 items and measures eight domains of couple-focused mindfulness: non-judgement, patience, a beginner's mind, trust, non-striving, acceptance, letting go, and noticing self and partner. An example item includes, "I am aware when I am feeling negative towards my partner." See full list of items in Appendix B. The overall scale demonstrated good reliability in the current sample ( $\alpha = .94$ ), and has been validated with confirmatory factor analysis (McGill et al., 2022). All item responses across the subscales were averaged to obtain an overall measure of couple-focused mindfulness for each partner.

# Romantic Self-efficacy

Romantic self-efficacy (RSE) was measured using the mean of six items from the Self-Efficacy in Romantic Relationships Scale (Riggio et al., 2013). Items range from one to seven, and the items assed the degree to which relationships felt difficult or challenging or the degree to which individuals were insecure about their ability to be a good partner. An example item is, "Romantic relationships are very difficult for me to deal with." All items were reverse coded. This scale demonstrated good reliability in the current sample ( $\alpha = .89$ ). Average scale scores were used in the analyses.

# **Relationship Quality**

Relationship quality was measured using a composite sum of items from the Quality of Marriage Index (Norton, 1983), Couple Satisfaction Index (Funk & Rogge, 2007), and a measure of commitment (Stanley & Markman, 1992). Three items from Quality of Marriage Index (QMI), four items from the Couple Satisfaction Index (CSI), and three items assessing commitment were used. All QMI and commitment items range from one to seven. One item on the CSI ranges from one to seven, while the other three range from one to six. The ten items demonstrated excellent internal consistency as indicated by a Cronbach's alpha ( $\alpha = .96$ ). Higher scores indicated greater relationship quality.

# **Relationship Instability**

Relationship instability was measured using an adapted version of Booth et al.'s (1983) measure of marital instability. The assessment consists of four items that assess whether the respondent and their partner have ever thought their relationship might be in trouble and whether either has ever considered separation/divorce. Higher scores reflect greater instability. The scale demonstrated good reliability in the current sample as indicated by Cronbach's alpha ( $\alpha = .85$ ). Sum scores were used for analyses.

#### **Psychological Distress**

Psychological distress was measured using the 10-item Kessler Psychological Distress Scale ("K10"; Kessler & Mroczek, 1994). This scale assesses the frequency of non-specific symptoms of psychological distress in the past 30 days such as, "felt tired out for no good reason" and "felt so nervous that nothing could calm you down." Responses are on a scale from one ("none of the time") to five ("all of the time"). Validity of the K10 have been established in previous samples (Andrews & Slade, 2001), and Cronbach's alpha indicated excellent reliability in the current sample ( $\alpha$  = .91). A sum score of the K10 items will be used, and higher scores will indicate greater distress.

## **Analytic Plan**

## **Preliminary Analyses**

Across all measures in the current sample the rate of random item missingness was below 1%. Trace item non-response was addressed with multiple imputation. Before addressing the Research Questions, missing data for all variables except for demographic characteristics and the ACEs assessment were imputed using the "mice" package in r (Azur et al., 2011; van Buuren & Groothuis-Oudshoorn, 2011). The resulting imputed values were then used for analyses, and results were pooled across 10 imputed datasets. Before the data were restructured into dyadic data by couples, partners of each couple were randomly assigned "partner 1" or "partner 2" status so that couple dyads were indistinguishable. Although couples are typically distinguished by gender or sex, this approach allowed for same-gender couples and gender diverse participants to be retained in the sample. Descriptive statistics including skewness and kurtosis statistics were examined to ensure all continuous variables met criteria for a normal distribution. Additionally, the prevalence of total ACEs and ACE dimensions were explored by examining data frequencies. *Primary Analyses* 

To test Research Question 1, exploring risk and resiliency profiles of couples, a dyadic latent profile analysis using each partner's threat ACE number, deprivation ACE number, couple-focused mindfulness levels, and RSE as indicators of the latent profiles (8 indicators) was conducted. Full-information maximum likelihood (FIML) was used to address missing partner data for individuals whose partners did not complete the survey. To determine the number of appropriate amount of profiles, relative model fit indices (Akaike Information Criteria, Bayesian Information Criteria, and Sample-size Adjusted Bayesian Information Criteria) were compared

between 1- through 7-class solution models. Entropy, bootstrapped Likelihood Ratio Test (BLRT) and Vuong-Lo-Mendell-Rubin Likelihood Ratio Test (VLMR-LRT), and this study's theoretical lens were also considered when choosing the appropriate number of profiles. Before testing Research Question 2, how demographics such as partners' race, relationship type, income, relationship length, relationship status, parental status, and relationship quality, relationship instability, and psychological distress are distributed across the risk and resiliency profiles, the profiles in which couples were most likely to be were saved as a categorical variable. Descriptive statistics and ANOVAs were then utilized to test for profile differences in relationship length and household income as well as baseline relationship quality, relationship stability, and psychological distress. Chi-square tests were utilized to test differences between profiles in categorical demographic variables (race, relationship type, relationship status, and parental status). Because SPSS does not pool results from multiple imputed datasets in ANOVAs or chi-square tests, results were pooled across imputations by taking the mean of result statistics and using F-statistic and chi-square tables to determine significance level.

## Results

#### **Preliminary Results**

No differences were detected between partners assigned as partner 1 and those assigned as partner 2 in weekly/monthly random assignment ( $\chi^2 = .65$ , df = 1, p = .42), gender ( $\chi^2 = .42$ , df = 2, p = .81), race/ethnicity ( $\chi^2 = .65$ , df = 6, p = 1.00), relationship status ( $\chi^2 = 4.32$ , df = 4, p =.37), income ( $\chi^2 = 1.49$ , df = 4, p = .83), age (t = -.33, df = 1590, p = .74), or whether they were in a same- or different-gender relationship ( $\chi^2 = 4.08$ , df = 2, p = .13). This validates the partner status random assignment procedure.

Eighty-two percent of the sample reported at least one of the 14 total ACEs assessed, and 40% report four or more of all ACEs assessed. Seventy-three percent of the current sample

reported at least one of the seven threat ACEs, and 25% reported four or more threat ACEs. Additionally, 61% reported at least one of the seven deprivation ACEs, and 11% reported four or more deprivation ACEs. Descriptive statistics for all study variables are presented in Table 4. Skewness and Kurtosis statistics were assessed, and all study variables meet the criteria for a normal distribution (Byrne, 2010; George & Mallery, 2010; Hair et al., 2010). Skewness ranged from -.76 to 1.27. Kurtosis ranged from -.76 to 1.13. Bivariate correlations were computed for all study variables to preliminarily assess relationships among them (see Table 5).

#### **Latent Profile Analysis Results**

LPA models were specified for one to seven profiles. See Table 6 for model fit statistics comparisons across solutions. Relative model fit indices and entropy suggested that the five- or six-class solutions were the best-fitting solutions. The AIC, BIC and SABIC values continued to decrease substantially until the five-profile solution, and the six-profile solution had the highest entropy value. Taking this study's theoretical approach into account when examining the indicator means across profiles in addition to the higher entropy value, the six-profile solution was selected as the best solution. The six risk and resiliency couple profiles were labeled as *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* (40%, n = 365), *Low Couple ACEs but Challenged* (27%, n = 251), *High/Low ACEs and Resilient* (12%, n = 109), *Incongruent: High/Low ACEs*,

*Challenged/Resilient,* (8%, n = 75), *High Couple ACEs but Resilient* (7%, n = 62), and *High Couple ACEs and Challenged* (6%, n = 59). See Figure 5 for a visual comparison of partners' levels of threat and deprivation ACEs, couple-focused mindfulness, and romantic self-efficacy across profiles.

### **Risk and Resiliency Couple Profile Descriptions**

See Table 7 for descriptives of each group. The largest risk and resiliency profile was the *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* profile (40%, n = 365). In this profile, both partners reported

below average threat and deprivation ACEs, above average levels of couple-focused mindfulness, and above average RSE. This group was racially balanced: forty-seven percent of this sample was African American/Black, 46% were European American/white, and 7% were of another race/ethnicity. This group reported mostly low-middle income: the average annual household income was between \$40,000 and \$70,000 (M = 3.18, SD = 1.38). The majority (67%) were married, 29% were in a committed relationship or engaged, 3% were casually dating, and 1% reported that they are in a relationship, but currently separated. The average length of relationships in this profile was 11.04 years (SD = 12.28). This profile included 96% individuals in different-gender relationships, 4% were in same-gender relationships or another kind of relationship. The majority were parents (71%).

In the *Low Couple ACEs but Challenged* couple risk and resiliency profile (27%, n = 251), both partners reported below average threat and deprivation ACEs, but also below average levels of couple-focused mindfulness, and below average RSE compared to other profiles. This class was also racially balanced: 47% European American/white individuals, 46% African American/Black individuals, and 7% members of another race/ethnicity. Members of this class were still mostly low-middle income: the average annual household income was between \$40,000 and \$70,000 (M = 3.28, SD = 1.33). The majority of this group (68%) were married couples, while 26% were in committed relationships or engaged, 3% were casually dating and 1% reported that they were in a relationship but currently separated. This class had been together an average of 13.32 years (SD = 13.38). Ninety-four percent were in different-gender relationships, while 6% were in same-gender relationships or another kind of relationship. The majority of this profile (84%) were parents, and 16% were not parents.

In the *High/Low ACEs and Resilient* profile (12%, n = 109), one partner reported above average levels of threat and deprivation ACEs, the other partner reported below average threat

and deprivation ACEs, both partners reported average levels of couple-focused mindfulness on average, and average levels of RSE. This profile is also racially balanced: 48% were African American/Black, 44% were European American/white individuals, and 8% individuals of another race/ethnicity. The average annual household income was low—between \$20,000 and \$40,000 on average (M = 2.89, SD = 1.25). The majority (63%) were married, 34% were in committed relationships or engaged, 2% were in a relationship but currently separated, and 1% were casually dating. The average length of relationships in this profile was 11.44 years (SD =15.52). Ninety-five percent of individuals in this profile were in different-gender relationships, and 5% were in same-gender relationships or another kind of relationship. The majority of this profile (75%) are parents, and 25% were not parents.

In the *Incongruent: High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient* profile (8%, n = 75), one partner reported a higher than average level of threat and deprivation ACEs, and the other reported a lower than average level of threat and deprivation ACEs. The partners in the *Incongruent* profile were also unmatched in their level of resilience. The partner with higher ACEs reported below average levels of couple-focused mindfulness and RSE, while the partner with fewer ACEs reported above average levels of couple-focused mindfulness and average levels of RSE. This profile is racially balanced, including 46% European American/white individuals, 45% African American/Black individuals, and 9% individuals of another race/ethnicity. The average annual household income in this group was low: between \$20,000 and \$40,000 (M = 2.75, SD = 1.22). Half of this profile (51%) were married; the other half were nonmarried: 43% were in a committed relationship or engaged, and 5% were casually dating, and 1% reported that they were in a relationship but currently separated. The average length of relationships in this profile 8.48 years (SD = 10.66). Couples in this profile were also mostly

different-gender (90%), while 10% were same-gender relationships or another kind of relationship. The majority (78%) of this profile are parents, while 22% are not parents.

In the *High Couple ACEs but Resilient* profile (7%, n = 62), both partners reported above average threat and deprivation ACEs as well as above average levels of couple-focused mindfulness and RSE. This sample included a majority (51%) of African American/Black individuals, 42% European American/white individuals, and 7% individuals of another race/ethnicity. The average annual household income was low—between \$20,000 and \$40,000 (M = 2.75, SD = 1.12). A slight majority of this profile (59%) were married, 34% were in a committed relationship or engaged, 4% were casually dating, and 3% were in a relationship but currently separated. The average length of relationships in this profile was 9.96 years (SD =13.70). The majority (93%) were in a different-gender relationship, and 7% were in same-gender relationships or another kind of relationship. The majority of this profile (78%) are parents, while 22% are not parents.

The smallest group was the *High Couple ACEs and Challenged* profile (6%, n = 59). In this group, both partners reported above average threat and deprivation ACEs and below average couple-focused mindfulness and RSE. This profile included half (50%) African American/Black individuals, 43% European American/white individuals, and 7% individuals of another race/ethnicity. This profile reported low average annual household income, which was between \$20,000 and \$40,000 (M = 2.62, SD = 1.12). The majority of this profile (94%) were in different-gender relationships, while 6% were in same-gender relationships or another kind of relationship. The majority of this profile (60%) were married, 33% were in a committed relationship or engaged, 6% were casually dating, and 3% were in a relationship but currently separated. The average length of relationships in this profile was 9.34 years (SD = 12.89). This profile also had a majority (79%) of parents and 21% individuals who are not parents.

### **Testing Differences between Risk and Resiliency Couple Profiles**

Due to no significant differences between partner 1s and partner 2s in demographic variables, results for only partner 1s are reported for categorical variables. For continuous variables, partners' reports were averaged to obtain a couple-level measure to test for differences between the couple profiles. Among demographic variables, significant differences were detected between risk and resiliency couple profiles for relationship status ( $\chi^2 = 33.58$ , df = 20, p < .05), relationship length (F(5, 893) = 2.77, p = .02), income (F(5, 909) = 5.68, p < .001), race  $(\chi^2 = 49.15, df = 30, p < .05)$ , and parent status ( $\chi^2 = 12.07, df = 5, p = .05$ ). There were no differences detected for relationship type (same/different gender) among the profiles ( $\chi^2 = 16.81$ , df = 10, p = .09). Among individual and relational functioning measures, significant differences were detected between risk and resiliency couple profiles for relationship quality (F(5, 915) =68.75, p < .001, relationship instability (F(5, 803) = 31.39, p < .001), and psychological distress (F(5, 803) = 26.88, p < .001). Proportion and mean comparisons across profiles can be found in Table 7. In order to describe each individual profile as clearly as possible, the following explanations of significant profile differences are presented twice (once per profile in a significant result).

#### Low Couple ACEs and Resilient

Crosstabs results indicated that the *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* profile had higher proportions of married couples and fewer parents compared to other profiles. Further, post-hoc independent samples *t*-tests demonstrated that the *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* profile reported significantly higher incomes on average than the *Incongruent: High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient* profile (t = 2.64, df = 636, p < .01) and the *High Couple ACEs and Challenged* profile (t = 2.38, df = 48, p = .02).

Additionally, this profile reported significantly higher relationship quality compared to three of the six profiles: *Low Couple ACEs but Challenged* (t = -14.81, df = 64, p < .01), *Incongruent: High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient* (t = 2.64, df = 636, p < .01), and *High Couple ACEs and Challenged* (t = 4.84, df = 11, p < .004). This profile also reported lower relationship instability than four of the six other profiles: *Low Couple ACEs but Challenged* (t = 8.11, df = 64, p < .01), *High/Low ACEs and Resilient* (t = -4.29, df = 19, p < .001), *High Couple ACEs but Resilient* (t = -2.23, df = 10, p = .05), *High Couple ACEs and Challenged* (t = -6.10, df = 23, p < .001). This profile also reported significantly lower psychological distress than all of the five other profiles: *Low Couple ACEs but Challenged* (t = 8.31, df = 95, p < .001), *High/Low ACEs and Resilient* (t = -3.60, df = 12, p < .01), *Incongruent: High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient* (t = -5.61, df = 19, p < .001), *High Couple ACEs but Resilient* (t = -2.42, df = 19, p < .001), *High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient* (t = -5.61, df = 19, p < .001), *High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient* (t = -5.61, df = 19, p < .001), *High/Low ACEs but Resilient* (t = -2.42, df = 19, p < .001), *High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient* (t = -5.61, df = 19, p < .001), *High/Low ACEs but Resilient* (t = -2.42, df = 19, p < .001), *High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient* (t = -5.61, df = 19, p < .001), *High/Low ACEs but Resilient* (t = -2.42, df = 19, p < .001), *High/Low ACEs but Resilient* (t = -2.42, df = 19, p < .001), *High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient* (t = -5.61, df = 19, p < .001), *High Couple ACEs but Resilient* (t = -2.42, df = 10, p < .001), *High Couple ACEs but Resilient* (t = -2.42, df = 10, p < .001), *High Couple ACEs but Resilient* (t = -2.42, df = 10, p < .001), *High Couple ACEs but Resilient* (t = -2.42, df = 10, p < .001), *High Couple ACEs but Resili* 

= 10, p = .04), *High Couple ACEs and Challenged* (t = -5.19, df = 12, p < .001).

### Low Couple ACEs but Challenged

Based on crosstabs results, the *Low Couple ACEs but Challenged* profile reported higher proportions of married couples and parents compared to other profiles. Post-hoc independent samples *t*-tests demonstrated that the *Low Couple ACEs but Challenged* profile reported higher incomes than the *Incongruent: High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient* profile (t = 3.21, df = 305, p < .01) and the *High Couple ACEs and Challenged* profile (t = 2.91, df = 54, p < .01). This profile reported longer relationship, on average, compared to the *Incongruent: High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient* profile (t = 2.94, df = 178, p < .01).

This profile reported lower relationship quality than three of the five other profiles: *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* (t = -14.81, df = 64, p < .01), *High/Low ACEs and Resilient* (t = -2.27, df = 11, p < .05), *Incongruent: High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient* (t = -3.65, df = 14, p < .01). This profile also reported greater relationship instability than the *Low Couple ACEs and*  *Resilient* profile (t = 8.11, df = 64, p < .01) and the *Incongruent: High/Low ACEs*,

*Challenged/Resilient* profile (t = 3.02, df = 19, p < .01). Lastly, this profile reported higher psychological distress compared to the *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* (t = 8.31, df = 95, p < .001) and lower psychological distress compared to the *High Couple ACEs and Challenged* (t = -2.47, df = 13, p = .03).

# High/Low ACEs and Resilient

In comparison to other groups, the *High/Low ACEs and Resilient* profile reported higher relationship quality than one profile, *Low Couple ACEs but Challenged* (t = -2.27, df = 11, p < .05). This profile also reported higher instability compared to the *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* profile (t = -4.29, df = 19, p < .001), and lower relationship instability than the *High Couple ACEs and Challenged* profile (t = -2.30, df = 28, p = .03).

### Incongruent: High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient

The *Incongruent: High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient* had fewer married couples compared to other profiles according to crosstabs results. Further, post-hoc independent samples *t*-tests indicated that the *Incongruent: High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient* profile reported significantly lower income than one profile, the *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* profile (t = 2.64, df = 636, p < .01). This profile also reported lower relationship quality (t = 2.64, df = 636, p < .01) than the *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* and greater relationship quality (t = 2.58, df = 13, p = .02) than the *High Couple ACEs and Challenged* profile. This profile reported lower relationship instability (t = -4.01, df = 25, p < .001) and more psychological distress (t = -5.61, df = 19, p < .001) than one profile, the *High Couple ACEs and Challenged* profile.

# High Couple ACEs but Resilient

Based on crosstabs results, the *High Couple ACEs but Resilient* profile had significantly greater proportions of African American/Black individuals compared to other profiles. In

addition, post-hoc independent samples t-tests indicated that this profile reported greater relationship instability (t = -2.23, df = 10, p = .05) and more psychological distress (t = -2.42, df = 10, p = .04) compared to the *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* profile.

# High Couple ACEs and Challenged

According to post-hoc independent samples t-tests, the *High Couple ACEs and Challenged* profile reported significantly lower incomes than the *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* profile (t = 2.38, df = 48, p = .02) and the *Low Couple ACEs but Challenged* profile (t = 2.91, df = 54, p < .01). Additionally, this profile reported significantly lower relationship quality than the *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* profile (t = 4.84, df = 11, p < .004) and the *Incongruent: High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient* profile (t = 2.58, df = 13, p = .02). The *High Couple ACEs and Challenged* profile also reported significantly greater relationship instability than three of the five other profiles: the *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* (t = -6.10, df = 23, p < .001), *High/Low ACEs and Resilient* (t = -2.30, df = 28, p = .03), and *Incongruent: High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient* (t = -4.01, df = 25, p < .001). Lastly, this profile reported significantly greater psychological distress than the *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* profile (t = -5.19, df = 12, p < .001) and the *Low Couple ACEs but Challenged* profile (t = -2.47, df = 13, p = .03).

Looking across these results, the *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* profile is overall the highest functioning profile in terms of relationship quality, relationship instability, and psychological distress. The lowest functioning profiles are *Low Couple ACEs but Challenged* and *High Couple ACEs and Challenged*. The following groups do not differ from each other in relationship and individual functioning and are ranked between *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* (highest functioning) and the two lowest ranking profiles: *High/Low ACEs and Resilient*,

*Incongruent: High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient*, and *High Couple ACEs but Resilient*. These can be considered having average overall functioning.

### Discussion

As CRE becomes more accessible to increasingly diverse populations, identifying types of participants that CRE is serving is a necessary step towards understanding for whom and how CRE works best. Although federal funding agencies have strengthened efforts to offer CRE in lower resourced and marginalized communities—communities in which ACEs occur at higher rates (Merrick et al., 2018)—ACEs and related resiliency factors have not been widely studied in CRE samples. The current study contains several elements that are novel in the study of ACEs and relationship functioning, including assessment of dimensions of adversity and the exploration of latent couple profiles. The current study uncovered important elements of diversity and nuance related to ACEs and resiliency factors (couple-focused mindfulness and RSE) within couples that enrolled in CRE.

Six latent risk and resiliency couple profiles were revealed in the current sample. Notably, none of the latent profiles consisted of the majority of the sample, and this highlights the diversity within CRE couples. Some profiles were expected based on existing findings about ACEs and relational functioning, such as the *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* (40%, n = 365) and the *High Couple ACEs and Challenged* (6%, n = 59) profile. We also found some unexpected latent profiles, including the *Low Couple ACE but Challenged* (27%, n = 251) and *High Couple ACEs but Resilient* (7%, n = 62) profiles. We also found two groups that reported mixed within-couple risk and resiliency: *High/Low ACEs and Resilient* (12%, n = 109) and *Incongruent: High/Low ACEs Challenged/Resilient* (8%, n = 75). These latter four groups validate the complexity of ACEs and trajectories of risk and resilience for individuals and couples. Exploring differences among the profiles in demographics and concurrent functioning further deepens our understanding of what type of diversity to expect among couples who enroll in CRE and how the combination of partners' risk and resiliency factors relate to relational and individual functioning before a CRE program. These profiles and their distinctions also offer practical implications for those working with diverse populations of couples.

## **Explaining Latent Profiles and their Differences**

Although no latent profile was the majority of the current sample, the largest proportion (40%) belonged to the Low Couple ACEs and Resilient profile. Couples in this profile shared experiences of below average levels of early adverse experiences, and they were mindful and felt efficacious in their relationships, on average. This profile tended to have higher incomes, more married couples (68%), and were least likely to have children (although 72% were parents). Unsurprisingly, this profile was also the highest functioning profile in terms of relationship quality, relationship instability, and psychological distress. This profile was expected as the current sample is a community-based (non-clinical) sample electing to receive a universal, preventive CRE program. The higher functioning of this profile could be due in part to overall lower levels of stress on the individual and couple relationship. Couples in this profile were less likely to be dealing with chronic stress due to higher ACEs and situational stress due to fewer resources and parenting challenges (Falconier & Jackson, 2020; Nelson et al., 2014; Nelson Goff & Smith, 2005), and as such, reported better couple relationship and individual functioning. It is also likely that their shared experience of lower ACEs and higher resiliency factors further enhanced individual and couple functioning since greater congruence in positive histories can be beneficial to couple relationships (Jamison & Lo, 2021; Xia et al., 2018).

On the other hand, there was also an expected but small proportion of the sample (6%) who belonged to the *High Couple ACEs and Challenged* profile. Couples in this profile shared high levels of early adversity and were challenged with below average levels of couple-focused

mindfulness and RSE. This profile tended to have lower income and was one of the two lowestfunctioning profiles in terms of relationship quality, relationship instability, and psychological distress. This profile represents the inverse of the Low Couple ACEs and Resilient profile, as high levels of chronic stress between both partners and situational stress due to fewer economic resources may have a large impact on these couples. Because socioeconomic status in adulthood is linked to socioeconomic status in childhood, it may also be that individuals in this profile are from backgrounds characterized by fewer resources. Stress due to lack of resources may be not only situational but also chronic for individuals in this profile. Cumulative chronic stress related to lack of resources and ACEs influence individual well-being and often spillover into their couple relationship functioning (Santiago et al., 2011; Shonkoff et al., 2012; Falconier & Jackson, 2020). Having shared experiences of above average ACEs may make developing resiliency factors and high individual and couple relationship functioning doubly challenging for some couples, such as those in the High Couple ACEs and Challenged profile. This is evidenced by clinical literature on dual-trauma couples. Dual trauma couples have reported challenges related to expressing vulnerability and communicating emotions clearly, mistrust, lack of motivation for individual growth (Braughton et al., 2021).

However, our findings also highlight that for some couples, high couple ACEs do not ensure lower resiliency or functioning as we may expect based on previous findings (Wheeler et al., 2020; Wheeler et al., 2021; Cooper et el., 2023b). By taking a risk and resilience approach in the current study, we were able to document that even couples who jointly report higher levels of ACEs can also be resilient and successful. The 62 couples in the *High Couple ACEs but Resilient* profile shared experiences of high couple ACEs and also reported above average couple-focused mindfulness and RSE. Couples in this profile were most likely to be African American/Black and only differed in functioning from the highest functioning profile, *Low Couple ACEs and* 

*Resilient*, suggesting that they report moderate functioning, similarly to some couples who have fewer couple ACEs. What may be an important distinction between this profile and the *High Couple ACEs and Challenged* profile is that both partners in the *High Couple ACEs but Resilient* profile reported lower levels of deprivation ACEs compared to partners in the *High Couple ACEs and Challenged* profile. From clinical literature there are suggestions of distinct underlying mechanisms between threat and deprivation ACEs. Individuals with deprivation ACEs can face challenges distinguishing between and communicating emotions (McLaughlin et al., 2020). Such challenges linked with deprivation ACEs may make developing couple-focused mindfulness and RSE more arduous. On the other hand, those with experiences of threat ACEs can develop higher threat bias and heightened emotional reactivity (McLaughlin et al., 2020). As such, individuals with more threat ACEs may have more awareness, especially of threats to their relationship. Such awareness could be channeled positively to couple communication that promotes RSE.

The *High Couple ACEs but Resilient* profile's higher functioning compared to the other profile with high couple ACEs could be due to greater post-traumatic growth among individuals and couples in this profile compared to *High Couple ACEs and Challenged*. Although post-hoc analyses did not demonstrate significant differences between the profiles with high couple ACEs in having previously participated in therapy or relationship education, post-traumatic growth can occur without such services. Post-traumatic growth is when individuals experience improvements in psychological functioning after adversity (Linley & Joseph, 2004). Post-traumatic growth can occur through acceptance, positive interpretations of experiences, and optimism (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004). Supports such as therapy, social support, and positive relationships also contribute to post-traumatic growth (Sanki & O'Connor, 2021; Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004). Also, previous research on post-traumatic growth and relationships suggests that partners' post-traumatic growth tends to be related (Weiss, 2004; Zwahlen et al., 2010). Partners

in healthy relationships can provide each other with emotional safety and intimacy allowing for mutual support that boosts post-traumatic growth for both partners (Prati & Pietrantoni, 2009; Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004).

The discovery of the unexpected *High Couple ACEs but Resilient* profile may also be related to the majority of this profile identifying as Black and our inclusion of extrafamilial ACEs such as discrimination often experienced by marginalized racial groups (Wade et al., 2014). Previous research suggests that adults who are in marginalized racial groups are more likely to experience more intra- and extrafamilial ACEs (Merrick et al., 2018; Wade et al., 2014). Further, recent findings on Black couples demonstrate that many Black couples see their couple relationship as a place to find support amidst minority stressors they experience as individuals and couples such as discrimination (Rice, 2023). It could be that partners in this profile similarly find support in each other regarding shared experiences of ACEs whether they be related to minority stress (i.e., racial/ethnic discrimination), community trauma (e.g., neighborhood violence), or household ACEs (e.g., child maltreatment).

The most unexpected profile in the current study was the *Low Couple ACEs but Challenged* profile, who made up one third of the study sample. This profile shared experiences of low couple ACEs but also jointly reported lower couple-focused mindfulness and lower RSE. Partners in this profile tended to have higher incomes and were most likely to be married and parents. This profile was one of the lowest functioning in terms of relationship quality, and had moderate levels of functioning in terms of relationship instability and psychological distress. This profile illustrates that there are many factors contributing to relational functioning that are not accounted for by risk related to threat and deprivation ACEs and lower resources. While a number of factors could explain the lower resiliency and functioning jointly reported despite lower ACEs, it may be that parenting stress is one of these factors. This profile was the most

likely to have children. Further, post-hoc descriptive analyses demonstrate that this profile was most likely to have children under the age of five, as well as under the age of 18 months. In general, parents tend to be less focused on the couple relationship during early parenting and are more likely to report lower relationship satisfaction than non-parents (Twenge et al., 2004), and a significant decline in relationship quality has been documented after birth (Doss et al., 2009).

This study also provides novel contributions regarding various constellations of ACEs between partners. The former profiles were characterized by partners with similar levels of threat and deprivation ACEs. Adding to a small body of literature seeking to understand and explicate patterns among single- and dual-trauma couples, the current study finds that whether partners match in their level of individual ACEs may be important for their own and their partner's levels of couple-focused mindfulness and RSE. Two latent profiles with unmatched partner ACEs were revealed: *Incongruent: High/Low ACEs and Challenged/Resilient* and *High/Low ACEs and Resilient*. Couples in the *High/Low ACEs and Resilient* profile had only one partner with high threat and deprivation ACEs, but both partners reported moderately high couple-focused mindfulness and RSE. Suggesting some compensatory functioning for the partner with higher ACEs. We examined more nuanced distinctions between these two groups to consider why a couple with nonshared ACEs experiences would have either nonshared resiliency levels.

Couples in the *Incongruent: High/Low ACEs and Challenged/Resilient* profile had a lower proportion of married couples and tended to have newer relationships compared to the *High/Low ACEs and Resilient* profile. It could be that couples in this profile, being together for shorter, have not had enough experience together to develop skills and characteristics to best manage the risks associated with their shared ACEs. Couples who have been together longer, such as those in the *High/Low ACEs and Resilient* profile, have had more time to develop

resiliency together. The lower functioning of both of the "high/low ACEs" profiles have compared to the *Low Couple ACEs and Resilient* profile could be due to the high ACEs only one partner experiences. Because these profiles fall in the middle of all of the risk and resiliency profiles on overall functioning, having a partner with fewer ACEs may be a positive influence for partners with higher ACEs, especially over time.

## Utility of Dimensional Approach to Adversity

One of the novel contributions of the current study to the field of ACEs and relational well-being was the use of a dimensional approach, distinguishing threat ACEs from deprivation ACEs (McLaughlin et al., 2020) in creating the profiles. While threat and deprivation ACEs were related in all profiles, looking across profiles, we were able to find a distinction in levels of deprivation ACEs that distinguished between the two profiles with high couple ACEs. The profile with fewer deprivation ACEs (compared to the other profile with high couple ACEs) had similar levels of relationship quality to all other profiles, including profiles with low couple ACEs. Additionally, the profile with fewer deprivation ACEs and *Resilient*) in relationship instability and psychological distress. This distinction was noteworthy in the current study of a community-based sample seeking preventative CRE with relatively low average number of ACEs. Distinguishing between threat and deprivation ACEs may be even more consequential in a more vulnerable population that may be especially susceptible to ACEs, such as a sample of couples or individuals in poverty seeking clinical services for relational or mental health problems.

### **Practical Implications**

The latent profiles uncovered in this study offer practitioners information about patterns within couples enrolling in community-based prevention programs for couples. Some of the profiles were expected and were consistent with previous findings and practical implications

about ACEs and individual and relational functioning. Our results also expand on the widely accepted negative link between ACEs and individual/relational functioning and highlight the nuance and diversity within populations with high ACEs and for couples with nonshared ACEs.

While there are overarching skills (e.g., self-care, couple communication, external social support) that can be developed to improve relational and individual functioning for all couples, this study highlights potential unique needs across risk and resiliency profiles. Practitioners may consider administering baseline assessments to better understand risk and resiliency among couples and to inform potential characteristics, skills, or support to focus on in prevention programs. For example, couples with high ACEs may benefit generally from psychoeducation about trauma, its impact on individuals and relationships, and post-traumatic growth. Partners with incongruent amounts of ACEs may also benefit from information about the systemic influence of adversity, post-traumatic growth for the partner with high ACEs, and how to support a partner with greater ACEs while maintaining healthy boundaries.

While conflict management and regulating emotional reactivity is frequently an objective in CRE, couples who report more deprivation ACEs may also benefit from practicing emotion identification, differentiation, and communicating their emotions and needs within their relationship. Improving these processes could promote couple-focused mindfulness and RSE, which were more closely connected to relational functioning in the current sample than ACEs. Further, improving couple-focused mindfulness and RSE may also further enhance one's emotional functioning. These are all teachable skills that could be improved through CRE. Mindfulness and RSE are goals of existing CRE curricula (Futris & Adler-Baeder, 2014; McGill et al., 2016), and these programs (*ELEVATE*, *Couples Connecting Mindfully*) were recently found to be effective among diverse couples (Adler-Baeder et al., 2022). Incorporating more

knowledge and skills related to emotional functioning would complement mindfulness and RSE skills well, especially for couples with high levels of ACEs.

Additionally, trauma-informed practitioners should bear in mind that having few ACEs does not negate couple or family needs. Couples that report low ACEs and low functioning may be assessed for higher parenting stress, and parenting topics may be a priority for such couples. It is also important to note that allow we found some demographic differences between profiles, practitioners should apply the demographic patterns and differences between the profiles with caution. Assumptions about level of risk, resilience, and individual/relational functioning should not be made based on demographic information or number of ACEs, but on baseline assessments of multiple risk and resiliency factors as well as individual and relational functioning.

## Limitations

Despite many strengths of the current study such as the large diverse sample of couples, the person-centered approach uncommon in CRE samples, the assessment of household and community ACEs, and the within-couple assessment of risk and resilience profiles, the current study's findings should be interpreted with some limitations in mind. All measures in this study were self-report survey measures that can be susceptible to bias. ACEs may be particularly subject to recall bias, as they assess events that occurred before age 18 and the current sample is inclusive of individuals across the lifespan. Another limitation to consider is that imbalanced sample sizes across latent profiles may have made it more difficult to detect statistically significant differences in demographics and concurrent functioning between profiles with ANOVAs and chi-square tests. It may be that distinctions in demographics and concurrent functioning may be made in a sample in which the profiles' sub-sample sizes are more balanced.

## **Future Directions & Conclusions**

While theory-driven, variable-centered approaches are valuable, person-centered approaches are necessary to uncover patterns among diverse samples that may go unnoticed otherwise. This is demonstrated in the current study, as six unique risk and resilience couple profiles were discovered: Low Couple ACEs and Resilient, Low Couple ACEs but Challenged, High/Low ACEs and Resilient, Incongruent: High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient, High Couple ACEs but Resilient, and High Couple ACEs and Challenged. This study only used crosssectional data before CRE, as follow-up data collection for the larger study is ongoing. An important next step is to examine how risk and resilience profiles predict improvements in individual and couple outcomes after CRE programming. It would be valuable for practitioners to know whether certain profiles of couples experience fewer or greater gains in key outcomes after programming. The continued attention to ACEs, individually and within couples, is encouraged in studies of CRE. The complex patterns of risk and resiliency found in our profiles can be expanded to further enhance our identification of the types of diversity within samples. These efforts are crucial for enhancing program experiences and strengthening program outcomes.

						Skew	ness	Kur	tosis
	Ν	Min.	Max.	Mean	SD	Stat	SE	Stat	SE
Threat	809	0.00	7.00	2.08	1.90	0.67	0.09	-0.56	0.17
ACEs	795	0.00	7.00	2.12	1.92	0.63	0.09	-0.63	0.17
Dep.	809	0.00	7.00	1.34	1.54	1.27	0.09	1.13	0.17
ACEs	795	0.00	7.00	1.42	1.62	1.25	0.09	1.09	0.17
MCDC	809	1.00	7.00	5.63	0.74	-0.55	0.09	0.30	0.17
MCKS	795	1.00	7.00	5.60	0.79	-0.65	0.09	0.91	0.17
DCE	809	1.00	7.00	5.03	1.25	-0.10	0.09	-0.76	0.17
KSE	795	1.00	7.00	4.93	1.30	-0.12	0.09	-0.59	0.17
BO	809	10.00	70.00	53.19	12.62	-0.76	0.09	0.17	0.17
ĸŲ	795	10.00	70.00	52.95	12.79	-0.73	0.09	0.04	0.17
Rel.	809	4.00	12.00	7.27	2.44	0.33	0.09	-0.76	0.17
Instability	795	4.00	12.00	7.35	2.44	0.33	0.09	-0.73	0.17
Psych.	809	10.00	50.00	21.66	8.15	0.65	0.09	-0.12	0.17
Distress	795	10.00	50.00	22.18	8.26	0.71	0.09	0.04	0.17

Table 4. Descriptive statistics for all Study 2 variables.

Note. Partner 1 results are unformatted, and Partner 2 results are in bolded font.

	Threat ACEs Partner 1	Threat ACEs Partner 2	Dep. ACEs Partner 1	Dep. ACEs Partner 2	MCRS Partner 1	MCRS Partner 2	RSE Partner 1	RSE Partner 2	RQ Partner 1	RQ Partner 2	Rel. Instability Partner 1	Rel. Instability Partner 2	Psych. Distress Partner 1	Psych. Distress Partner 2
Threat														
ACEs	1													
Partner 1														
Threat														
ACEs	.23***	1												
Partner 2														
Dep.														
ACEs	.60***	.22***	1											
Partner 1														
Dep.	2 Calculate	<i>c</i> , <i>A</i> . ( ).	<b>O</b> Calculate											
ACES	.23***	.64***	.26***	I										
Partner 2														
NICKS Doutnon 1	08*	.01	08*	0.01	1									
MCPS														
Dortnor 2	07	05	06	05	.41***	1								
RSE														
Partner 1	14***	05	21***	-0.06	.53***	.28***	1							
RSE														
Partner 2	11**	18***	10*	17***	.25***	.50**	.24***	1						
RO						10111								
Partner 1	16***	09*	16***	13***	.65***	.49***	.44***	.35***	1					
RQ	1 ( + + +	17***	10**	15444	11444	C F + + +	07***	10***	()***	1				
Partner 2	16***	1/***	12**	15***	.44***	.65***	.27***	.42***	.62***	1				
Rel.														
Instability	.23***	.16***	.22***	.17***	36***	36***	30***	30***	64***	54***	1			
Partner 1														
Rel.														
Instability	.17***	.21***	.18***	.22***	37***	43***	28***	33***	57***	64***	.68***	1		
Partner 2														
Psych.														
Distress	.26***	.16***	.30***	.17***	28***	21***	40***	21***	37***	24***	.28***	.24***	1	
Partner 1														
Psych.	10444	01444	20***	05444	1144	20444	1 - + + + +	20***	00444	20444	00***	01***	01+++++	1
Distress	.19***	.54***	.20***	.33***	11**	30***	1/***	38***	25***	30***	.22***	.31***	.34***	1

Table 5. Bivariate correlations among variables used in primary analyses

Note. \*\*\*p < .001, \*\*p < .01, \*p < .05, †p < .10

K	LL	AIC	BIC	SABIC	BLRT p	VLMR-LRT p	Entropy	Profile Proportions
1	-10844.46	21720.92	21798.12	21747.31				1. 100%, <i>n</i> = 921
2	-10480.60	21011.20	21131.84	21052.44	p < .001	p < .001	0.82	1.75%, <i>n</i> = 692
								2. 25%, <i>n</i> = 229
3	-10310.95	20689.89	20853.96	20745.98	p < .001	p = .01	0.71	1. 32%, $n = 296$
								2. 46%, $n = 426$
1	-10159 90	20/05 80	20613 30	20476 74	n < 0.01	n - 12	73	3.22%, n = 199
7	-10137.70	20403.00	20015.50	20470.74	p < .001	p = .12	.75	1. $29\%, n = 270$ 2. $16\%, n = 149$
								2.10%, n = 149 3.13%, n = 119
								4. 42%, $n = 383$
5	-10087.40	20278.79	20529.71	20364.57	p < .001	p = .42	.75	1. 6%, <i>n</i> = 52
					-	_		2. 30%, <i>n</i> = 274
								3. 40%, <i>n</i> = 365
								4. 11%, $n = 104$
6	10041 02	20205 83	20500 18	20306 45	n < 0.01	n - 42	76	5. 14%, $n = 126$
U	-10041.72	20203.03	20300.10	20300.43	h < 1001	p – .42	.70	1. $27\%, n = 251$ 2. $40\%, n = 365$
								2. $40\%, n = 505$ 3. $8\%, n = 75$
								4.12%, n = 109
								5. 7%, $n = 62$
								6. 6%, <i>n</i> = 59
7	-9994.68	20129.36	20467.14	20244.83	p < .001	p = .53	.75	1. 21%, <i>n</i> = 195
								2. 14%, <i>n</i> = 133
								3. 39%, <i>n</i> = 360
								4. 4%, $n = 38$
								5. 6%, $n = 56$
								0.970, n = 0.000 7 6% $n = 54$

Table 6. Comparison of model fit indices for 1-class through 7-class solutions

*Note*. Best fitting solution is in bold.



Figure 5. Standardized indicator means for the 6 risk and resiliency couple profiles

*Note.* Measure abbreviations: THACE = threat ACEs, DEPACE = deprivation ACEs, MCRS = couple-focused mindfulness, RSE = romantic self-efficacy. Number after measure abbreviation indicates which partner's report (i.e., partner 1 or partner 2).

	Low Couple ACEs and	Low Couple ACEs	High/Low ACEs	Incongruent:	High Couple	High Couple ACEs				
	Kesilient (40% n = 365	<i>but Challenged</i> (27% n – 251	and Resilient $(12\% n - 109)$	High/Low ACEs, Challenged/Resilient	ACEs but Resilient $(7\% \ n-6?)$	and Challenged (6% n – 59				
	couples)	(27/0, n = 251)	(12/0, n = 10) couples)	(8%, n = 75  couples)	(7/0, n = 02) couples)	(0/0, n = 3) couples)				
Relationship S	Status	1 /	1 /		1 /	1 /				
Married	68% (206)	68% (137)	61% (67)	52% (45)	60% (36)	60% (28)				
Committed or engaged	28% (84)	26% (53)	35% (39)	39% (34)	34% (21)	33% (15)	$\chi^2(20) = 33.58^*$			
Casually Dat.	4% (11)	4% (9)	1% (1)	3% (2)	3% (2)	5% (2)				
Separated	<1% (1)	2% (3)	3% (3)	6% (5)	3% (2)	2% (1)				
Race										
Afr. Am./Black	46% (140)	45% (91)	48% (53)	49% (42)	50% (30)	46% (22)				
Euro. Am./white	46% (140)	47% (94)	48% (44)	42% (36)	42% (25)	44% (21)	$\chi^2$ (30) = 49.15*			
Another race/ethnicity	8% (24)	8% (16)	4% (4)	9% (8)	8% (5)	10% (4)				
Parent Stat	us									
Yes	72% (217)	83% (166)	76% (83)	77% (67)	79% (47)	78% (36)	$\chi 2(5) = 12.07*$			
No	28% (85)	17% (35)	24% (27)	23% (20)	21% (13)	22% (10)				
Relationship Length	11.04 (12.28)	13.32 (13.38) <sup>a</sup>	11.44 (15.52)	8.48 (10.66) <sup>a</sup>	9.96 (13.70)	9.34 (12.89)	F(5,893) = 2.77*			
Annual House. Income	3.18 (1.38) <sup>b,c</sup>	3.28 (1.33) <sup>d,e</sup>	2.89 (1.25)	2.75 (1.22) <sup>b,d</sup>	2.75 (1.12)	2.62 (1.12) <sup>c,e</sup>	<i>F</i> (5,909) = 5.68***			
RQ	59.34 (8.83) <sup>f,g,h</sup>	45.28 (11.16) <sup>f,i,j</sup>	52.54 (10.02) <sup>j</sup>	53.66 (10.89) <sup>g,i,k</sup>	48.69 (11.25)	44.64 (11.94) <sup>h,k</sup>	$F(5,915) = 68.75^{***}$			
Rel. Instability	6.20 (2.16) <sup>l,m,n,o</sup>	8.07 (2.27) <sup>1,p,q</sup>	7.82 (2.25) <sup>m,s</sup>	6.80 (2.29) <sup>p,t</sup>	8.37 (2.35)°	9.05 (2.39) <sup>n,q,s,t</sup>	<i>F</i> (5,803) = 31.39***			
Psych. Distress	18.51 (5.76) <sup>u,v,w,x,y</sup>	23.26 (6.57) <sup>u,z</sup>	23.56 (7.12) <sup>w</sup>	24.00 (6.32) <sup>v</sup>	26.10 (7.32) <sup>x</sup>	27.82 (7.61) <sup>y,z</sup>	$F(5,915) = 41.71^{***}$			
<i>Note.</i> $+p < .10$ ; $*p < .05$ ; $**p < .01$ ; $***p < .001$ . Significant mean differences are denoted with superscripts. Income is an ordinal variable: $1 = <$ \$20K, $2 =$ \$20-40K, $3 =$ \$40-75K, $4 =$										

\$75-100K, 5 = \$100K+.

### **General Discussion**

As many disciplines have independently recognized the importance of healthy couple relationships and the risks ACEs present to overall health and well-being in individuals, the utility of prevention science approaches and research that combine these topics is apparent. Federal funds have been allocated for CRE to expand access to diverse and vulnerable populations since 2006 and research on CRE programs has proliferated. Research shows that there are teachable skills that individuals and couples can learn and practice to improve their relationships and prevent negative outcomes related to unhealthy relationships. The newest generation of CRE research aims to answer complex questions regarding *for whom* CRE works by assessing specific subpopulations and contextual factors, as well as *how* CRE works by assessing prospective associations among changes after CRE.

Although CRE initiatives among populations who are at higher risk of having ACEs are valued and encouraged by funders, there has been little effort in research to explore unique participant experiences related to ACEs. Additionally, resilience perspectives and assessments of partner influences in the study of CRE and ACEs, individually, and in combination, are extremely rare. The current dissertation aimed to address these gaps by utilizing a prevention science approach with diverse methods. Specifically, the goals of this two-study dissertation were (1) explore the concept of couple level ACEs history, (2) advance the understanding of whether and how couple level ACEs influence CRE program experiences for self and partner, (3) consider the nature of ACEs and identify couple level risk and resiliency typologies in a diverse sample of couples, and (4) determine how such typologies are linked to other sample characteristics including individual and relational functioning.

The first study adds to the small but growing literature exploring *how* CRE works by focusing on dyadic skills-related processes of change after CRE. The study used advanced methods including the use of dyadic data, tests of moderation within an actor-partner interdependence model, and longitudinal assessments from pre-program up to one year after CRE. Findings suggested that among the seven skill areas addressed in the CRE program, participants reported the most change in self-care, conflict management, and partner care, and improvements in these skills drive later improvements in relationship quality for oneself, but not one's partner. Drawing on assumptions from clinical research on single- and dual-trauma couples and theoretical assumptions from interdependency theory, this study also considered the novel concept of cumulative couple ACEs, or the combined number of ACEs of both partners. Findings suggest that the link between immediate improvements in conflict management and later improvements in relationship quality was weaker for participants with more cumulative couple ACEs which carries some implications for practice.

By combining "how" and "for whom" frameworks that guide contemporary CRE research questions, the first study contributed multiple advancements to the CRE field. First, the skills in which participants reported the most gains highlight *NERMEM* (Futris & Adler-Baeder, 2013) elements that may be of most relevance in CRE. Self-care is a newer CRE program emphasis as suggested by *NERMEM* and is emphasized in the two curricula used in the current study. This study is the first to validate CRE efforts to improve individual self-care behaviors as a means of improving relationship quality. This study also added to existing evidence suggesting that healthy conflict management and positive interactions are critical content elements of CRE programs. The novel trauma-informed risk and resilience approach taken in the current process of change assessment allowed us to better understand how immediate changes may differentially

influence later outcomes at various levels of ACE-related risk. Our findings suggest that conflict management may be a skill area to emphasize even more strongly among couples who have experienced greater ACEs.

Complex process of change models that include dyadic influences and assess moderation of processes are critical for understanding how CRE works for diverse couples, and much is left to be learned. Specifically, we found no evidence of partner influences in processes of change after CRE with the skills assessed immediately post-program. This suggests that one's reports of one's improvements in couple relationship skills drive their own perceptions of improvements in their relationship, even when considering their partner's self-reports of skill improvements. Individuals' partners' reports of their couple relationship skills may be a valuable element for future research to consider to explain more of the variance in relationship quality. Future research may also consider exploring partner influences at various follow-up assessments after CRE. Additionally, couple-level ACEs was a new concept explored in Study 1 that future researchers may consider. Assessments comparing the utility of measuring ACEs at the couple or individual level would be useful as scholars continue to better understand the systemic nature and dyadic influences of ACEs.

Although variable-centered approaches that focus on exploring concurrent and longitudinal associations between variables, as the one used in the first study of this dissertation, are fundamental in studying processes of change and moderation, person-centered approaches allow researchers to uncover typologies of participants that may go unnoticed with traditional approaches to CRE research. Using a more racially diverse sample, dyadic couple data, and a dimensional approach to ACEs assessment, the second study of this dissertation found six latent couple profiles of risk and resilience. Some findings were expected based on existing findings from research on ACEs in CRE samples—couples with low threat and deprivation ACEs and higher levels of resilience factors had the highest levels of individual and relational functioning. On the other hand, couples with high levels of both types of ACEs and lower levels of resilience factors had the lowest levels of functioning. Our novel study also highlighted the diversity among couples in CRE related to ACE-related risk and resilience. Partners who reported unmatched levels of risk appeared in two profiles: one in which both partners reported moderate levels of resiliency and one in which the partner with more ACEs reported below average levels of resiliency. Couples in these profiles tended to report moderate levels of individual and couple functioning. Some couples reported lower resilience factors and lower functioning despite having few ACEs. Notably, some couples reported high levels of resilience factors and moderate functioning despite both partners having high amounts of ACEs. Our findings also validated our consideration of dimensions of ACEs, as more deprivation ACEs tended to be linked with lower levels of resilience factors and lower levels of individual and relational functioning. In order to strengthen trauma-informed and strengths-based approaches in community based CRE, understanding such complexity and nonlinearity of ACE-related risk and resilience among couples that enroll in CRE is essential. Baseline assessments of risks, as well as strengths of couples, before CRE can help inform program design so that CRE can be modified or supplemental information and resources provided to best meet the needs of participants depending on their own needs and strengths.

While a trauma-informed prevention science approach in CRE research is new, this dissertation used diverse and advanced methods to highlight its value. We encourage other scholars to consider how early experiences shape couples' experiences before, during, and after CRE and how CRE program experiences can be adjusted or expanded to meet needs related to

early adversity. This includes the study and incorporation of resiliency factors such as couplefocused mindfulness and RSE. There are likely many other resiliency factors participants bring to CRE that are not assessed in the current dissertation. Future researchers may consider continued exploration of modifiable, teachable resiliency factors that can be incorporated into CRE programs to outweigh risks of early adversity. We also encourage ACEs and relationship scholars to continue considering the systemic nature of ACEs. Our findings demonstrate the influence of cumulative couple ACEs as well as the diversity among couples in various combinations of levels of partners' ACEs. The study of partner influences and couple-level influences of ACEs is in its infancy. Trauma-informed approaches have been mostly utilized in clinical interventions for couples; integrating trauma-informed approaches in community-based CRE that consider shared and nonshared early experiences and their implications for relational dynamics and outcomes would best promote healthy relationships and individuals within diverse and vulnerable populations.

#### Self-Reflection

In an effort to explicitly connect my growing identity with my research agenda, I was asked to reflect on these dissertation studies and the work in my program that they were built from as both a growth experience in identity development and as a scholarly enterprise. I was asked: What are you most proud of regarding your demonstration of skills, your approach, and your contributions to new knowledge in the field? What can we say now about the topics of ACEs and CRE that we couldn't say prior to this work? What experiences and biases did you bring to the process? How are YOU different now compared to before beginning the doctoral program and developing and offering these studies?

I entered the Marriage and Family Therapy clinical program in 2016 with a general understanding of the link between individual mental health and wellness and intimate relationships that I learned through my personal experience. I was passionate about supporting and teaching others about healthy relationships. What I lacked upon beginning my graduate studies was an awareness of my own adverse experiences, how they influenced my body and subsequent experiences, and how they would soon influence my professional roles as a therapist and a relationship scholar. I had never heard of the word trauma in the context of mental health and wellness.

During my clinical program, as I learned more about how adverse early experiences can influence us and the neurophysiological effects of trauma, I became passionate about this topic, although why I was so interested was yet to be understood. The topic of trauma and its effects just easily clicked with me. Simultaneously, through interactions with clients and feedback from clinical supervisors, I began to progressively more deeply reflect on the kind of person I was and how that influenced me in professional and personal realms. At the time, these areas of development (interest in trauma, self-reflection) were parallel, disconnected lines. Now, I recognize that this self-reflection was the beginning of my awareness of symptoms related to my own adversity.

At this time, I was also working with the Alabama Healthy Marriage and Relationship Education Initiative (AHMREI) learning about community-based prevention programs for couples. It was clear that AHMREI prioritized enhancing accessibility of relationship education programs for more vulnerable populations with fewer resources and more stressors. They emphasized self-awareness and self-care skills in relationship education, understanding the links between an individual's context and past experiences and their relationships. In my work with

AHMREI, I did not hear very much discussion about trauma specifically or traumatic early experiences and how they can be so impactful for adult relationships. However, my framework about factors that distinguish healthy and unhealthy individuals and relationships was growing and beginning to center on unhealed trauma as a key distinguishing factor. As I entered the PhD program seeking my own research agenda, I saw an opportunity to make a difference by integrating my new favorite topic, trauma, with relationship education research and practice. I began making progress on my research program when the COVID-19 pandemic began.

With a lot of extra alone time on my hands during the early months of the pandemic, like many during this time, I had no choice but to turn inward and dive deeper into the self-reflection that was initiated in my early grad school years. I developed regular meditation and yoga practices. I read books that deepened my understanding of different types of trauma that I did not learn about in my clinical program, specifically complex trauma and religious trauma. I read stories of deconstruction and healing. I reflected. I was the only child of amazing people who had no shortage of their own challenges, and was thus one of those children who had to "grow up fast." I was also a girl who was raised within fundamentalist Christianity in the rural South, and at this time of inward attunement, was starting to accept her queer identity for the first time. How I ended up here—a therapist with a special interest in trauma—started to make a lot of sense.

Unbeknownst to me upon entering grad school, I believe I was drawn to being a therapist and teaching about healthy relationships because I spent most of my life until that point feeling deeply misunderstood without an internal compass of what is right for me. I was so disconnected from myself, seeking to understand my emotions and experiences through intellectualizing them. I had experienced complex trauma, and it drove the way I moved in the world for a very long time.

The work I was doing in my professional world was inspired, even if subconsciously, by my personal experiences, and it was also leading me to my own healing. This healing has and will continue to, in turn, improve my work in the professional realm. It is all interconnected. So this dissertation is a symbol. Not only is it the accumulation of my education and professional skill development over the last seven years, but it is also a symbol of my personal growth over the last seven years.

I have so enjoyed spreading my wings as a scholar and practitioner during my time in graduate school. While I am proud of my advanced research methods skills I have developed and novel contributions my work has made to the CRE field, I am most proud of the impact my work has and will continue to have on individuals and couples throughout Alabama. I've had the immense pleasure of simultaneously conducting this research and applying my findings in collaboration with our programmatic leadership to develop solutions to improve trauma informed efforts in our CRE programs. This includes training sessions in trauma-informed practice for our community partners and for our youth relationship education facilitators. I have taken my story and turned it into my work that has made a positive mark on my community. I am proud to prioritize resiliency in the study of ACEs and to emphasize strengths-based approaches in my research as well as practical work in CRE. I fundamentally believe that individuals who experience hardship are inherently resilient, and when we uncover specific teachable skills linked to resiliency, we can further enhance individuals' and communities' capacity for healing and healthy relationships.

My work demonstrates how common adversity is among community-based populations and those enrolling in CRE. It highlights the systemic influences of trauma—that adversity affects individual *and couple relationship* skills and functioning. Thus, a trauma-informed
approach is essential for ensuring CRE programs are as effective as possible. My study of ACEs within community-based samples illustrates that trauma-informed approaches should go beyond the therapy room and be widely applied to intervention/prevention programs of any realm potentially influenced by trauma—couple relationships, parenting, workforce development, any program related to health, wellbeing, and relations with others. Lastly, my work demonstrates that although adversity is linked with risks to couple relationship functioning, resiliency is more closely linked to couple relationship functioning. Despite adversity that cannot be undone, resiliency can be built, and people who have experienced trauma have so much capacity to learn and to have healthy lives and relationships.

This dissertation is a symbol of ALL of my work—professional and personal. It is a symbol of perseverance and the journey to understanding and owning my experience, trusting my knowledge, and finding my voice. This dissertation symbolizes my development from a fixed mindset to a growth mindset and learning to emphasize progress over perfectionism. And just like my personal growth, this dissertation came together not in one week or one month, but slowly over time, bit by bit. The day to day struggle does not reflect the full picture, but when I look back, I see how those small, everyday contributions add up to an amazing product and the strong, resilient person that I am. To be able to embody my work, to see my individual health and relationships improve through this educational and professional journey has been so dear and special to me. The most exciting part is that I know My Work (interconnected personal and professional work) does not stop here. I'm excited to see where this work takes me, how I will continue to grow, and the positive impact my journey will have on others.

109

## References

- Adair, K. C., Boulton, A. J., & Algoe, S. B. (2018). The effect of mindfulness on relationship satisfaction via perceived responsiveness: Findings from a dyadic study of heterosexual romantic partners. *Mindfulness*, 9, 597-609. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-017-0801-3</u>
- Adler-Baeder, F., Futris, T. G., McGill, J., Richardson, E. W., & Dede Yildirim, E. (2022).
   Validating the couple relationship skills inventory. *Family Relations*, 71(1), 279-306.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12590">https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12590</a>
- Adler-Baeder, F. McGill, J., Yildirim, E.D., Gregson, K., Cooper, E., Burke, L., Finnegan, V., & Jackel, R. (2022). Concurrent randomized control trials of the 1-Year efficacy of two couple relationship education programs: ELEVATE and Couples Connecting Mindfully. *Family Process*, *61*(3), 986-1004. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12750</u>
- Amato, P. R. (2010). Research on divorce: Continuing trends and new developments. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 72(3), 650-666. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2010.00723.x</u>
- Anda, R. F., Dong, M., Brown, D. W., Felitti, V. J., Giles, W. H., Perry, G. S., Valerie, E. J., & Dube, S. R. (2009). The relationship of adverse childhood experiences to a history of premature death of family members. *BMC Public Health*, *9*, Article 106. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-9-106
- Andersson, S. O., Annerbäck, E. M., Söndergaard, H. P., Hallqvist, J., & Kristiansson, P. (2021).
  Adverse Childhood Experiences are associated with choice of partner, both partners' relationship and psychosocial health as reported one year after birth of a common child.
  A cross-sectional study. *Plos One*, *16*(1), Article e0244696.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0244696

- Appleyard, K., Egeland, B., van Dulmen, M. H., & Alan Sroufe, L. (2005). When more is not better: The role of cumulative risk in child behavior outcomes. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *46*(3), 235-245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-</u>7610.2004.00351.x
- Arnold, L. S., & Beelmann, A. (2019). The effects of relationship education in low-income couples: A meta-analysis of randomized-controlled evaluation studies. *Family Relations*, 68(1), 22-38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12325</u>
- Andrews, G., & Slade, T. (2001). Interpreting scores on the Kessler psychological distress scale (K10). Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 25(6), 494-497. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-842X.2001.tb00310.x
- Azur, M. J., Stuart, E. A., Frangakis, C., & Leaf, P. J. (2011). Multiple imputation by chained equations: what is it and how does it work? *International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research*, 20(1), 40-49. https://doi.org/10.1002/mpr.329
- Balcom, D. (1996). The interpersonal dynamics and treatment of dual trauma couples. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 22(4), 431-442. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-0606.1996.tb00218.x</u>
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. W.H. Freeman and Company.
- Barden, S. M., Carlson, R. G., Dillman Taylor, D., Dickenson, T., & Gao, R. (2022). A randomized trial of relationship education using Within Our Reach for economically vulnerable couples. *Family Process*, 61(3), 1005-1020.

https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12781

Barton, A. W., Beach, S. R., Lavner, J. A., Bryant, C. M., Kogan, S. M., & Brody, G. H. (2017).Is communication a mechanism of relationship education effects among rural African

Americans? Journal of Marriage and Family, 79(5), 1450-1461.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12416

Barton, A. W., Lavner, J. A., & Beach, S. R. (2021). Can interventions that strengthen couples' relationships confer additional benefits for their health? A randomized controlled trial with African American couples. *Prevention Science*, 22, 386-396.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-020-01175-7

Baucom, D. H., Hahlweg, K., Atkins, D. C., Engl, J., & Thurmaier, F. (2006). Long-term prediction of marital quality following a relationship education program: being positive in a constructive way. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 20(3), 448-455.

https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.20.3.448

- Bellis, M. A., Hughes, K., Leckenby, N., Perkins, C., & Lowey, H. (2014). National household survey of adverse childhood experiences and their relationship with resilience to healthharming behaviors in England. *BMC Medicine*, *12*, Article 72. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-12-72
- Benight, C. C., & Bandura, A. (2004). Social cognitive theory of posttraumatic recovery: The role of perceived self-efficacy. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 42(10), 1129-1148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2003.08.008</u>
- Bentley, P.G., Kaplan, S.G. & Mokonogho, J. (2018). Relational mindfulness for psychiatry residents: A pilot course in empathy development and burnout prevention. *Academic Psychiatry*, 42, 668–673. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40596-018-0914-6</u>
- Bir, A., Lerman, R. I., Corwin, E., MacIlvain, B., Beard, A., Richburg, K., ... Lerman, R. I.
  (2012). *The Community Healthy Marriage Initiative evaluation: Impacts of a community* approach to strengthening families [OPRE Report 20 12-34 A]. U.S. Department of

Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation

- Bishop, S. R., Lau, M., Shapiro, S., Carlson, L., Anderson, N. D., Carmody, J., Segal, Z. V., Speca, M., Velting, D., & Devins, G. (2004). Mindfulness: A proposed operational definition. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 11(3), 230-241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/clipsy.bph077</u>
- Bloch, L., Haase, C. M., & Levenson, R. W. (2014). Emotion regulation predicts marital satisfaction: More than a wives' tale. *Emotion*, 14(1), 130-144. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0034272.
- Blumer, H. (1969). Symbolic interactionism: Perspective and method. Prentice Hall.
- Booth, A., Johnson, D., & Edwards, J. (1983). Measuring Marital Instability. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 45(2), 387-394. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/351516</u>
- Bradford, A. B., Adler-Baeder, F., Ketring, S. A., Bub, K. L., Pittman, J. F., & Smith, T. A.
  (2014). Relationship quality and depressed affect among a diverse sample of relationally unstable relationship education participants. *Family Relations*, 63(2), 219-231.

https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12064

- Braithwaite, S., & Holt-Lunstad, J. (2017). Romantic relationships and mental health. *Current Opinion in Psychology, 13*, 120-125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2016.04.001</u>
- Braughton, J., Mendenhall, T., & Kazlauskaite, V. (2022). Identification of resiliency processes in dual-trauma couples: An exploration of self-reported relational strengths and weaknesses. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 14*(S1), S109–S118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0001112</u>

Brown D. W., Anda R. F., Tiemeier H., Felitti V. J., Edwards V. J., Croft J. B., Giles W. H.
(2009). Adverse childhood experiences and the risk of premature mortality. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *37*(5), 389-96.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2009.06.021

Brown, M. J., Perera, R. A., Masho, S. B., Mezuk, B., & Cohen, S. A. (2015). Adverse childhood experiences and intimate partner aggression in the US: Sex differences and similarities in psychosocial mediation. *Social Science and Medicine*, 131, 48–57.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.02.044

- Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2003). The benefits of being present: mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 84(4), 822-848. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0022-3514.84.4.822</u>
- Burrows, L. (2011). Relational mindfulness in education. *Encounter: Education for Meaning and* Social Justice, 24(4), 24-29. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Leigh-</u> <u>Burrows/publication/260602232\_Relational\_Mindfulness\_in\_Education/links/0a85e531c</u> <u>e805ba9ef000000/Relational-Mindfulness-in-</u>

Education.pdf?\_sg%5B0%5D=started\_experiment\_milestone&origin=journalDetail

- Byrne, B. M. (2010). *Structural equation modeling with AMOS: Basic concepts, applications, and programming.* Routledge.
- Cao, H., Ma, R., Li, X., Liang, Y., Wu, Q., Chi, P., Li, J., & Zhou, N. (2022). Childhood emotional maltreatment and adulthood romantic relationship well-being: a multilevel, meta-analytic review. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 23*(3), 778-794. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838020975895

- Carlson, R. G., Barden, S. M., Locklear, L., Dillman Taylor, D., & Carroll, N. (2022).
  Examining quality time as a mediator of dyadic change in a randomized controlled trial of relationship education for low-income couples. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 48(2), 484-501. https://doi.org/10.1111/jmft.12554
- Carlson, R. G., Rappleyea, D. L., Daire, A. P., Harris, S. M., & Liu, X. (2017). The effectiveness of couple and individual relationship education: Distress as a moderator. *Family Process*, 56(1), 91-104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12172</u>
- Carroll, J. S., & Doherty, W. J. (2003). Evaluating the effectiveness of premarital prevention programs: A meta-analytic review of outcome research. *Family Relations*, 52(2), 105-118. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3729.2003.00105.x
- Castro-Schilo, L., & Grimm, K. J. (2018). Using residualized change versus difference scores for longitudinal research. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 35(1), 32–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407517718387</u>
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (September 2020). Adverse Childhood Experiences Prevention Strategy. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/injury/pdfs/priority/ACEs-Strategic-</u> <u>Plan\_Final\_508.pdf</u>
- Clark, U. S., Herrington, O. D., & Hegde, R. R. (2023). Effects of early-life adversities on neuropsychiatric and executive functions in HIV-positive adults. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 29(1), 68-79. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1355617721001466

Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Lawrence Erlbaum.

- Coie, J. D., Watt, N. F., West, S. G., Hawkins, J. D., Asarnow, J. R., Markman, H. J., Ramey, S. L., Shure, M. B., & Long, B. (1993). The science of prevention: a conceptual framework and some directions for a national research program. *American Psychologist*, 48(10), 1013-1022. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.48.10.1013
- Conger, R. D., Conger, K. J., & Martin, M. J. (2010). Socioeconomic status, family processes, and individual development. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 72(3), 685-704. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2010.00725.x</u>
- Cook, W. L., & Kenny, D. A. (2005). The actor–partner interdependence model: A model of bidirectional effects in developmental studies. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 29(2), 101-109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01650250444000405</u>
- Cooper, E., Adler-Baeder, F., & McGill, J. (2021). Individual mental health and couple functioning following couple relationship education participation: Exploring prospective cross-lagged influences among changes. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 47(4), 945-961. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jmft.12493</u>
- Cooper, E. Adler-Baeder, F. McGill, J. (2023a). *Dyadic links between ACEs, mindfulness, and relationship quality in a diverse sample of couples* [Manuscript submitted for publication]. Department of Human Development and Family Science, Auburn University.
- Cooper, E., Adler-Baeder, F., McGill, J. (2023b). Adverse childhood experiences among couple relationship education participants: Exploring influence on program impact and testing models of risk and resilience [Manuscript submitted for publication]. Department of Human Development and Family Science, Auburn University.

- Costa, B. M., Kaestle, C. E., Walker, A., Curtis, A., Day, A., Toumbourou, J. W., & Miller, P. (2015). Longitudinal predictors of domestic violence perpetration and victimization: A systematic review. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 24, 261-272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2015.06.001
- Cowan, P. A., & Cowan, C. P. (2014). Controversies in couple relationship education (CRE):
   Overlooked evidence and implications for research and policy. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 20*(4), 361-383. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/law0000025</u>
- Cronholm, P. F., Forke, C. M., Wade, R., Bair-Merritt, M. H., Davis, M., Harkins-Schwarz, M., Patcher, L. M., & Fein, J. A. (2015). Adverse childhood experiences: Expanding the concept of adversity. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 49(3), 354-361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2015.02.001</u>
- Cross, M. P., Hofschneider, L., Grimm, M., & Pressman, S. D. (2018). Subjective well-being and physical health. In E. Diener, S. Oishi, & L. Tay (Eds.), *Handbook of well-being*. DEF Publishers. https://www.nobascholar.com/books/1/download.pdf
- Danese, A., & McEwen, B. S. (2012). Adverse childhood experiences, allostasis, allostatic load, and age-related disease. *Physiology & Behavior*, 106(1), 29-39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.08.019</u>
- Doss, B. D., Knopp, K., Roddy, M. K., Rothman, K., Hatch, S. G., & Rhoades, G. K. (2020).
   Online programs improve relationship functioning for distressed low-income couples:
   Results from a nationwide randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 88(4), 283-294. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/ccp0000479</u>

- Doss, B. D., Rhoades, G. K., Stanley, S. M., & Markman, H. J. (2009). The effect of the transition to parenthood on relationship quality: an 8-year prospective study. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 96(3), 601-619. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037%2Fa0013969</u>
- Driver, J.L. & Gottman, J.M. (2004). Daily marital interactions and positive affect during marital conflict among newlywed couples. *Family Process*, 43(3), 301-314. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1545-5300.2004.00024.x.

Falconier, M. K., & Jackson, J. B. (2020). Economic strain and couple relationship functioning: A meta-analysis. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 27(4), 311-325.

https://doi.org/10.1037/str0000157

- Fawcett, E. B., Hawkins, A. J., Blanchard, V. L., & Carroll, J. S. (2010). Do premarital education programs really work? A meta-analytic study. *Family Relations*, 59(3), 232-239. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3729.2010.00598.x
- Felitti, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards, V., & Marks, J. S. (1998). Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE)
  Study. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 14(4), 245-258.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-3797(98)00017-8
- Fincham, F. D., & Beach, S. R. H. (2013). Gratitude and forgiveness in relationships. In J. A. Simpson, & L. Campbell (Eds.), *The oxford handbook of close relationships*. Oxford University Press.
- Follette, V., Palm, K. M., & Pearson, A. N. (2006). Mindfulness and trauma: Implications for treatment. *Journal of Rational-Emotive and Cognitive-Behavior Therapy*, 24(1), 45-61. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10942-006-0025-2

- Follette, V. M., Palm, K. M., & Rasmussen Hall, M. L. (2004). Acceptance, mindfulness, and trauma. In Hayes, S. C., Follette, V. M. & Linehan, M. (Eds.), *Mindfulness and acceptance: Expanding the cognitive behavioral tradition*. Guilford Press.
  <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Kathleen-Palm-Reed/publication/232494484\_Acceptance\_Mindfulness\_and\_Trauma/links/00b7d51a7934787fb2000000/Acceptance-Mindfulness-and-Trauma.pdf">https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Kathleen-Palm-Reed/publication/232494484\_Acceptance\_Mindfulness\_and\_Trauma/links/00b7d51a7934787fb200000/Acceptance-Mindfulness-and-Trauma.pdf</a>
- Funk, J. L., & Rogge, R. D. (2007). Testing the ruler with item response theory: increasing precision of measurement for relationship satisfaction with the Couples Satisfaction Index. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 21, 572-583. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-</u> <u>3200.21.4.572</u>
- Futris, T. G., & Adler-Baeder, F. (2013). The National Extension Relationship and Marriage Education Model: Core teaching concepts for relationship and marriage enrichment programming. The University of Georgia Cooperative Extension. Available from <u>http://www.nermen.org/NERMEM.php</u>.
- Futris, T., Adler-Baeder, F., Ketring, S., & Smith, T. (2014). *ELEVATE: Taking your relationship to the next level*. Published by the Alabama Cooperative Extension System
  [Alabama A&M and Auburn Universities: Publication No. FCS-2047] and the University of Georgia Cooperative Extension [Publication No. HDFS-E-161]. Available at <u>http://www.nermen.org/ELEVATE.php</u>
- George, D. & Mallery, M. (2010). SPSS for Windows Step by Step: A Simple Guide and Reference, 17.0 update (10a ed.) Pearson.

- Gill, J. M., & Page, G. G. (2006). Psychiatric and physical health ramifications of traumatic events in women. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 27, 711–734. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01612840600781121</u>
- Gottman, J. M., Coan, J., Carrere, S., & Swanson, C. (1998). Predicting marital happiness and stability from newlywed interactions. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 60(1) 5-22. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/353438</u>
- Hair, J., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J. & Anderson, R. E. (2010). *Multivariate data analysis* (7th ed.). Pearson Educational International.
- Halford, W. K., Markman, H. J., Kling, G. H., & Stanley, S. M. (2003). Best practice in couple relationship education. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 29(3), 385-406. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-0606.2003.tb01214.x</u>
- Hatch, S. G., Knopp, K., Le, Y., Allen, M. O., Rothman, K., Rhoades, G. K., & Doss, B. D.
  (2022). Online relationship education for help-seeking low-income couples: A bayesian replication and extension of the OurRelationship and ePREP programs. *Family Process*, *61*(3), 1045-1061. https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12710
- Hawkins, M. A., Layman, H. M., Ganson, K. T., Tabler, J., Ciciolla, L., Tsotsoros, C. E., & Nagata, J. M. (2021). Adverse childhood events and cognitive function among young adults: Prospective results from the national longitudinal study of adolescent to adult health. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *115*, Article 105008.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2021.105008

Hawkins, A. J., Allen, S. E., & Yang, C. (2017). How does couple and relationship education affect relationship hope? An intervention-process study with lower income couples. *Family Relations*, 66(3), 441-452. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12268</u>

- Hawkins, A. J., & Erickson, S. E. (2015). Is couple and relationship education effective for lower income participants? A meta-analytic study. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 29(1), 59-68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000045</u>
- Hawkins, A. J., & Fackrell, T. A. (2010). Does relationship and marriage education for lowerincome couples work? A meta-analytic study of emerging research. *Journal of Couple & Relationship Therapy*, 9(2), 181-191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15332691003694927</u>
- Hawkins, A. J., Hokanson, S., Loveridge, E., Milius, E., Duncan, M., Booth, M., & Pollard, B.
  (2022). How effective are ACF-funded couple relationship education programs? A metaanalytic study. *Family Process*, 61(3), 970-985. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12739</u>
- Hawkins, A. J., Stanley, S. M., Cowan, P. A., Fincham, F. D., Beach, S. R., Cowan, C. P.,
  Rhoades, G. K., Markman, H. J., & Daire, A. P. (2013). A more optimistic perspective on government-supported marriage and relationship education programs for lower income couples. *American Psychologist*, 68(2), 110–111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031792</u>
- Hopwood, T. L., & Schutte, N. S. (2017). A meta-analytic investigation of the impact of mindfulness-based interventions on post traumatic stress. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 57, 12-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2017.08.002</u>
- Hsueh, J., Alderson, D. P., Lundquist, E., Michalopoulos, C., Gubits, D., Fein, D., Knox, V. (2012). *The Supporting Healthy Marriage evaluation: Early impacts on low-income families*. OPRE Report 2012-11. Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

- Hu, L., & Bentler, P. M. (1998). Fit indices in covariance structure modeling: Sensitivity to underparameterized model misspecification. *Psychological Methods*, *3*, 424–453. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.3.4.424</u>
- Hughes, K., Bellis, M. A., Hardcastle, K. A., Sethi, D., Butchart, A., Mikton, C. Jones, L., & Dunne, M. P. (2017). The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Public Health*, *2*(8), e356-e366.
  <u>https://reader.elsevier.com/reader/sd/pii/S2468266717301184?token=41127BC969155C0</u> A5E942F39722D6B06462FA4C0562F86F8E60D9821CC2D8029F91522A2021C85CF <u>A1C368ACEC13BF1F</u>
- Hunter, J. A. (1991). A comparison of the psychosocial maladjustment of adult males and females sexually molested as children. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 6(2), 205–217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/088626091006002005</u>
- Huston, T., & Vangelisti, A. (1991). Socioemotional behavior and satisfaction in marital relationships: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *61*, 721–733. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.61.5.721</u>
- Jamison, T. B., & Lo, H. Y. (2021). Exploring parents' ongoing role in romantic development: Insights from young adults. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 38(1), 84-102. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407520958475</u>
- Johnson, M. D. (2012). Healthy marriage initiatives: On the need for empiricism in policy implementation. *American Psychologist*, 67, 296-308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027743</u>
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (2003). Mindfulness-based interventions in context: past, present, and future. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 10(2), 144–156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/clipsy.bpg016</u>

- Kabat-Zinn, M., & Kabat-Zinn, J. (1998). *Everyday blessings: The inner work of mindful parenting*. Hachette Books.
- Kalmakis, K. A., & Chandler, G. E. (2014). Adverse childhood experiences: towards a clear conceptual meaning. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70(7), 1489-1501. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.12329
- Kappen, G., Karremans, J. C., Burk, W. J., & Buyukcan-Tetik, A. (2018). On the association between mindfulness and romantic relationship satisfaction: The role of partner acceptance. *Mindfulness*, 9, 1543-1556. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-018-0902-7</u>
- Karney, B. R. (2021). Socioeconomic status and intimate relationships. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 72, 391-414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-051920-013658</u>
- Karney, B. R., & Bradbury, T. N. (1995). The longitudinal course of marital quality and stability:
  A review of theory, method and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *118(1)*, 3-34.
  https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.118.1.3
- Karremans, J. C., Schellekens, M. P., & Kappen, G. (2017). Bridging the sciences of mindfulness and romantic relationships: A theoretical model and research agenda. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 21(1), 29-49. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868315615450
- Kelley, H. H., & Thibaut, J. W. (1978). Interpersonal relations: A theory of interdependence.Wiley.
- Kenny, D. A. (2015, November 24). *Dyadic analysis*. David A. Kenny. http://www.davidakenny.net/dyad.htm
- Kenny, D. A. (2020, June 5). *Measuring model fit*. David A. Kenny. http://davidakenny.net/cm/fit.htm

- Kessler, R., & Mroczek, D. (1994). Final versions of our non-specific psychological distress scale. Survey Research Center of the Institute for Social Research, University of Michigan.
- Khalifian, C. E., Bosch, J., Knopp, K., Delay, C., Sohn, M. J., & Morland, L. A. (2022). Adverse childhood experiences, mental health, and relationship satisfaction in military couples. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *36*(4), 630-635.

https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000952

- Kisbu-Sakarya, Y., MacKinnon, D. P., & Aiken, L. S. (2013). A Monte Carlo comparison study of the power of the analysis of covariance, simple difference, and residual change scores in testing two-wave data. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 73(1), 47-62. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164412450574
- Le, Y., Roddy, M. K., Hatch, S. G., & Doss, B. D. (2020). Mechanisms of improvements and maintenance in online relationship programs for distressed low-income couples. *Journal* of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 88(12), 1091-1104.

https://doi.org/10.1037/ccp0000616

- Lee, K. A., Jones Harden, B., Jaramillo, M., Norman, T. A., & Jimenez Parra, L. (2023).
   Conventional and expanded adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and maternal functioning among low-income Black mothers. *Child & Family Social Work, 28*(1), 37-52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12939</u>
- Leitch, L. (2017). Action steps using ACEs and trauma-informed care: a resilience model. *Health & Justice*, *5*, Article 5. <u>http://doi.org/10.1186/s40352-017-0050-5</u>
- Lin, L., Cao, B., Chen, W., Li, J., Zhang, Y., & Guo, V. Y. (2022). Association of childhood threat and deprivation with depressive symptoms and the moderating role of current

economic status among middle-aged and older adults in China. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-022-02384-x</u>

Linley, P. A., & Joseph, S. (2004). Positive change following trauma and adversity: A review. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 17(1), 11-21.

https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JOTS.0000014671.27856.7e

- Lucier-Greer, M., & Adler-Baeder, F. (2012). Does couple and relationship education work for individuals in stepfamilies? A meta-analytic study. *Family Relations*, 61(5), 756-769. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3729.2012.00728.x</u>
- MacCallum, R. C., Browne, M. W., & Sugawara, H. M. (1996). Power analysis and determination of sample size for covariance structure modeling. *Psychological Methods*, *1*, 130-149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.1.2.130</u>
- Markman, H. J., Hawkins, A. J., Stanley, S. M., Halford, W. K., & Rhoades, G. (2022). Helping couples achieve relationship success: A decade of progress in couple relationship education research and practice, 2010–2019. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 48(1), 251-282. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jmft.12565</u>
- Markman, H. J., & Rhoades, G. K. (2012). Relationship education research: Current status and future directions. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 38(1), 169-200. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-0606.2011.00247.x</u>
- Masten, A. S. (2001). Ordinary magic: Resilience processes in development. *American Psychologist*, 56(3), 227-238. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0003-066X.56.3.227</u>
- Masten, A., & Cicchetti, D. (2016). Resilience in Development: Progress and Transformation. In
   D. Cicchetti (Ed.), *Developmental Psychopathology* (pp. 271-333). Wiley.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119125556.devpsy406">https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119125556.devpsy406</a>

- McGill, J., Adler-Baeder, F., & Garneau-Rosner, C. (2021). An evaluation of the ELEVATE program for couples: Considering vulnerabilities and relationship length. *Family Relations*, 70(1), 327-351. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12502</u>
- McGill, J., Adler-Baeder, F., & Rodriguez, P. (2016). Mindfully in love: A meta-analysis of the association between mindfulness and relationship satisfaction. *Journal of Human Sciences and Extension, 4*(1).
- McGill, J., Ketring, S., & Adler-Baeder, F. (2016). *Couples Connecting Mindfully*. 6-module curriculum. Leader guide, facilitation and implementation guide, power points, and handouts.
- McGill, J., Adler-Baeder, F., & Burke, L. (2022). The Mindfulness in Couple Relationships Scale: Development and Validation. *Mindfulness*, 13, 2299-2314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-022-01957-w</u>
- McLaughlin, K. A., Colich, N. L., Rodman, A. M., & Weissman, D. G. (2020). Mechanisms linking childhood trauma exposure and psychopathology: a transdiagnostic model of risk and resilience. *BMC Medicine*, *18*, Article 96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-020-01561-6</u>
- McLaughlin, K. A., & Sheridan, M. A. (2016). Beyond cumulative risk: A dimensional approach to childhood adversity. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 25(4), 239-245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721416655883</u>

 Merrick M.T., Ford D.C., Ports K.A., Guinn A.S. (2018). Prevalence of Adverse Childhood Experiences From the 2011-2014 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System in 23 States. *JAMA Pediatrics*, *172*(11), 1038–1044.
 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2018.2537">https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2018.2537</a>

- Miller, E., Breslau, J., Chung, W. J., Green, J. G., McLaughlin, K. A., & Kessler, R. C. (2011). Adverse childhood experiences and risk of physical violence in adolescent dating relationships. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 65, 1006-1013. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/jech.2009.105429
- Miller, A. B., Sheridan, M. A., Hanson, J. L., McLaughlin, K. A., Bates, J. E., Lansford, J. E., ...
  & Dodge, K. A. (2018). Dimensions of deprivation and threat, psychopathology, and potential mediators: A multi-year longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *127*(2), 160-170. https://doi.org/10.1037/abn0000331
- Nelson, S. K., Kushlev, K., & Lyubomirsky, S. (2014). The pains and pleasures of parenting:
  When, why, and how is parenthood associated with more or less well-being? *Psychological Bulletin*, 140(3), 846-895. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035444</u>
- Nelson, B. S., & Wampler, K. S. (2000). Systemic effects of trauma in clinic couples: An exploratory study of secondary trauma resulting from childhood abuse. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 26(2), 171-184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-0606.2000.tb00287.x</u>
- Nelson Goff, B. S., Irwin, L., Cox, M., Devine, S., Summers, K., & Schmitz, A. (2014). A qualitative study of single-trauma and dual-trauma military couples. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy,* 6(3), 216–223. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0036697</u>

Nelson Goff, B. S., Peterson, F. R., Berg, N., Williams, T., & Clark, C. (2006). The singletrauma couple: A case analysis of a clinical session transcript. *Journal of Couple & Relationship Therapy*, 5(3), 59-77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J398v05n03\_04</u>

- Nelson Goff, B. S. & Smith, D. B. (2005). Systemic traumatic stress: The couple adaptation to traumatic stress model. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, *31*(2), 145-157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-0606.2005.tb01552.x</u>
- Norton, R. (1983). Measuring marital quality: A critical look at the dependent variable. *Journal* of Marriage and Family, 45(1), 141-151. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/351302</u>

O'Connor, D. B., Thayer, J. F., & Vedhara, K. (2021). Stress and health: A review of psychobiological processes. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 72, 663-688. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-062520-122331</u>

Pepping, C. A., Halford, W. K., Cronin, T. J., & Lyons, A. (2020). Couple relationship education for same-sex couples: A preliminary evaluation of rainbow CoupleCARE. *Journal of Couple & Relationship Therapy*, 19(3), 230-249.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15332691.2020.1746458

- Peterson, C., O'Neal, C. W., & Futris, T. G. (2022). Military couples' childhood experiences and romantic relationship satisfaction: The role of accepting influence. *Family Process*, 61(2), 689-704. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12689</u>
- Peugh, J. L., DiLillo, D., & Panuzio, J. (2013). Analyzing mixed-dyadic data using structural equation models. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 20(2), 314-337. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10705511.2013.769395</u>
- Porges, S. W. (2011). The polyvagal theory: Neurophysiological foundations of emotions, attachment, communication, and self-regulation. W W Norton & Co.
- Prati, G., & Pietrantoni, L. (2009). Optimism, social support, and coping strategies as factors contributing to posttraumatic growth: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, 14(5), 364-388.

- Quinn-Nilas, C. (2020). Self-Reported Trait Mindfulness and Couples' Relationship Satisfaction: a Meta-Analysis. *Mindfulness 11*, 835–848. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-020-01303-y</u>
- Rauer, A. J., Adler-Baeder, F., Lucier-Greer, M., Skuban, E., Ketring, S. A., & Smith, T. (2014).
   Exploring processes of change in couple relationship education: Predictors of change in relationship quality. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 28(1), 65-76.

https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035502

- Rice, T. M. (2023). Echoes of slavery: Reflections on contemporary racial discrimination in Black Americans' romantic relationships. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/02654075231154934</u>
- Riggio, H.R., Weiser, D.A., Valenzuela, A.M., Lui, P.P., Montes, R., & Heuer, J. (2013). Selfefficacy in romantic relationships: Prediction of relationship attitudes and outcomes. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, 153(6), 629–650.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00224545.2013.801826

- Roberson, P. N., Lenger, K. A., Gray, T., Cordova, J., & Gordon, K. C. (2020). Dyadic latent profile analyses and multilevel modeling to examine differential response to couple relationship education. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *34*(7), 879-885. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000667</u>
- Roddy, M. K., Stamatis, C. A., Rothman, K., & Doss, B. D. (2020). Mechanisms of change in a brief, online relationship intervention. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *34*(1), 57-67.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000569">https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000569</a>
- Roddy, M.K., Rhoades, G.K. & Doss, B.D. (2020) Effects of ePREP and OurRelationship on Low-Income Couples' Mental Health and Health Behaviors: a Randomized Controlled Trial. *Prevention Science*, 21, 861–871. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-020-01100-y</u>

- Ruhlmann, L. M., Gallus, K. L., & Durtschi, J. A. (2018). Exploring relationship satisfaction and attachment behaviors in single-and dual-trauma couples: A pilot study. *Traumatology*, 24(1), 27-35. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/trm0000129</u>
- Rutter, M. (1979). Protective factors in children's responses to stress and disadvantage. In M. W. Kent & J. E. Rolf (Eds.), *Primary prevention of psychopathology, Vol.3: Social competence in children* (pp. 49–74). University of New England Press.
- Sanki, M., & O'Connor, S. A. (2021). Developing an understanding of Post Traumatic Growth: Implications and application for research and intervention. *International Journal of Wellbeing*, 11(2), 1-19. https://doi.org/10.5502/ijw.v11i2.1415
- Santiago, C. D., Wadsworth, M. E., & Stump, J. (2011). Socioeconomic status, neighborhood disadvantage, and poverty-related stress: Prospective effects on psychological syndromes among diverse low-income families. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 32(2), 218-230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2009.10.008
- Schilling, E. A., Baucom, D. H., Burnett, C. K., Allen, E. S., & Ragland, L. (2003). Altering the course of marriage: the effect of PREP communication skills acquisition on couples' risk of becoming maritally distressed. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *17*(1), 41-53. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.17.1.41
- Sheridan, M. A., & McLaughlin, K. A. (2014). Dimensions of early experience and neural development: deprivation and threat. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 18(11), 580-585. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2014.09.001</u>
- Shonkoff, J. P. & Garner, A. S. (2012) The Lifelong Effects of Early Childhood Adversity and Toxic Stress. *Pediatrics*, *129*(1), e232-e246. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-2663</u>

- Sosnowski, D. W., Rojo-Wissar, D. M., Smail, E. J., Musci, R. J., Wilcox, H. C., & Johnson, S.
  B. (2022). Expanding on Threat and Deprivation: Empirical Examination of Adversity
  Dimensions and Psychiatric Outcomes Among Emerging Adults. *Emerging Adulthood*, *11*(2), 431-443. https://doi.org/10.1177/21676968221114260
- Stanley, S. M., Carlson, R. G., Rhoades, G. K., Markman, H. J., Ritchie, L. L., & Hawkins, A. J. (2020). Best practices in relationship education focused on intimate relationships. *Family Relations*, 69(3), 497-519. https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12419
- Stanley, S. M. & Markman, H. J. (1992). Assessing commitment in personal relationships. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 54(3), 595-608. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/353245</u>
- Stanley, S. M., Rhoades, G. K., Olmos-Gallo, P. A., Markman, H. J. (2007). Mechanisms of Change in a Cognitive Behavioral Couples Prevention Program: Does Being Naughty or Nice Matter? *Prevention Science*, 8, 227–239. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-007-0071-</u> <u>8</u>
- Tedeschi, R. G., & Calhoun, L. G. (2004). Posttraumatic growth: conceptual foundations and empirical evidence. *Psychological Inquiry*, *15*(1), 1-18.

https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327965pli1501\_01

Totura Garrison, C. M., Neely, D., McGill, J., & Adler-Baeder, F. (2022). Social influences predicting involvement in couple relationship education. *Family Relations*.

https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12810

Twenge, J. M., Campbell, W. K., & Foster, C. A. (2003). Parenthood and marital satisfaction: a meta-analytic review. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 65(3), 574-583. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2003.00574.x</u>

- Umberson, D., & Karas Montez, J. (2010). Social relationships and health: A flashpoint for health policy. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 51(1), S54-S66. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022146510383501
- van Buuren S., Groothuis-Oudshoorn K. (2011). "mice: Multivariate Imputation by Chained Equations in R." *Journal of Statistical Software*, 45(3), 1-67. https://www.jstatsoft.org/v45/i03/
- van der Kolk, B. A. (2014). The body keeps the score: Brain, mind, and body in the healing of *trauma*. Viking.
- Wade, R., Cronholm, P. F., Fein, J. A., Forke, C. M., Davis, M. B., Harkins-Schwarz, M.,
  Pachter, L. M., & Bair-Merritt, M. H. (2016). Household and community-level adverse childhood experiences and adult health outcomes in a diverse urban population. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *52*, 135-145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2015.11.021</u>
- Wade, R., Shea, J. A., Rubin, D., Wood, J. (2014). Adverse Childhood Experiences of Low-Income Urban Youth. *Pediatrics*, 134(1), e13–e20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2013-</u> 2475
- Weiss, T. (2004). Correlates of posttraumatic growth in husbands of breast cancer survivors. *Psycho-Oncology*, *13*(4), 260–268. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/pon.735</u>
- West, T. V. (2013). Repeated measures with dyads. In J. A. Simpson & L. Campbell (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of close relationships* (pp. 731–749). Oxford University Press.
- Wheeler, N. J., Barden, S. M., & Daire, A. P. (2020). Mediation of Childhood Adversity and Health by Relationship Quality in Diverse Couples. *Family Process*, 59(3), 1243-1260. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12467</u>

- Wheeler, N. J., Daire, A. P., Barden, S. M., & Carlson, R. G. (2019). Relationship distress as a mediator of adverse childhood experiences and health: Implications for clinical practice with economically vulnerable racial and ethnic minorities. *Family Process*, 58(4), 1003-1021. https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12392
- Wheeler, N.J., Griffith, S.M., Harris, H. & Kozachuk, L.A. (2020) Individual-Oriented
   Relationship Education: Exploring Adverse Childhood Experiences as a Moderator of
   Individual Distress Outcomes. *Journal of Couple & Relationship Therapy*, 19(1), 76-93.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/15332691.2019.1661324">https://doi.org/10.1080/15332691.2019.1661324</a>
- Wheeler, N. J., Regal, R. A., Griffith, S. A. M., & Barden, S. M. (2021). Dyadic Influence of Adverse Childhood Experiences: Counseling Implications for Mental and Relational Health. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 99(1), 24-36.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/jcad.12351
- Whisman, M. A. (2006). Childhood trauma and marital outcomes in adulthood. *Personal Relationships*, *13*(4), 375–386. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6811.2006.00124.x
- Whisman, M.A. & Baucom, D.H. (2012). Intimate Relationships and Psychopathology. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 15, 4–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-011-0107-2</u>
- Whitaker, R. C., Dearth-Wesley, T., Gooze, R. A., Becker, B. D., Gallagher, K. C., & McEwen,
  B. S. (2014). Adverse childhood experiences, dispositional mindfulness, and adult
  health. *Preventive Medicine*, 67, 147-153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.07.029</u>
- Whitfield, C. L., Anda, R. F., Dube, S. R., & Felitti, V. J. (2003). Violent childhood experiences and the risk of intimate partner violence in adults: Assessment in a large health

maintenance organization. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *18*(2), 166-185. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260502238733

- Wickham, R. E., & Knee, C. R. (2012). Interdependence theory and the actor–partner interdependence model: Where theory and method converge. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 16(4), 375-393. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868312447897</u>
- Williamson, H. C., Altman, N., Hsueh, J., & Bradbury, T. N. (2016). Effects of relationship education on couple communication and satisfaction: A randomized controlled trial with low-income couples. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 84(2), 156-166. https://doi.org/10.1037/ccp0000056
- Wood, R. G., Moore, Q., Clarkwest, A., Hsueh, J., & McConnell, S. (2010). Strengthening unmarried parents' relationships: The early impacts of Building Strong Families, technical supplement. Mathematica Policy Research. <u>https://www.mathematica.org/-/media/publications/pdfs/family\_support/bsf\_impact\_techrpt.pdf</u>
- Xia, M., Fosco, G. M., Lippold, M. A., & Feinberg, M. E. (2018). A Developmental Perspective on Young Adult Romantic Relationships: Examining Family and Individual Factors in Adolescence. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 47, 1499-1516.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-018-0815-8">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-018-0815-8</a>
- Zamir, O. (2021). Childhood maltreatment and relationship quality: A review of type of abuse and mediating and protective factors. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 23*(4), 1344-1357.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838021998319">https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838021998319</a>
- Zielinski, D. S. (2009). Child maltreatment and adult socioeconomic wellbeing. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *33*(10), 666 678. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2009.09.001</u>

Zwahlen, D., Hagenbuch, N., Carley, M. I., Jenewein, J., & Buchi, S. (2010). Posttraumatic growth in cancer patients and partners—Effects of role, gender and the dyad on couples' posttraumatic growth experience. *Psycho-Oncology*, 19(1), 12–20. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/pon.1486</u>

Appendix A: ACE items assessed in Study 2 categorized according to dimension

Threat ACEs	
Emotional abuse	How often, if ever, did a parent, stepparent or another adult in your household swear at you, insult you, put you down, or humiliate you? OR act in a way that made you afraid that you might be physically hurt?
Physical abuse	How often, if ever, did a parent, stepparent or another adult in your household push, grab, slap, or throw something at you? OR hit you so hard that you had marks or were injured?
Sexual abuse	Did an adult or older relative, family friend, or stranger who was at least 5 years older than you ever touch or fondle you in a sexual way or have you touch their body in a sexual way?
	Did an adult or older relative, family friend, or stranger who was at least 5 years older than you ever attempt to have or actually have oral, anal, or vaginal sex with you?
Witnessed domestic violence	How often, if ever, did you see or hear a parent, stepparent, or another adult who was helping to raise you being yelled at, screamed at, sworn at, insulted or humiliated? OR slapped, kicked, punched, or beaten up? OR being hit or cut with an object, such as a stick/cane, bottle, club, knife or gun?
Witnessed community violence	How often, if ever, did you see or hear someone being beaten up, stabbed, or shot in real life?
Bullied	How often were you bullied by a peer or classmate?
Discrimination/racism	Sometimes people are treated badly, or are considered inferior, because of the color of their skin, because they speak a different language or have an accent, or because they come from a different country or culture. While you were growing up (during your first 18 years of life), how often, if ever, did you feel that you were treated badly or unfairly because of your race or ethnicity?
Deprivation ACEs	
Emotional neglect	How often, if ever, did you feel that no one in your family loved you or thought you were important or special? OR that your family didn't look out for each other, feel close to each other, or support each other?
Physical neglect	How often, if ever, did you feel that you didn't have enough to eat, had to wear dirty clothes, and had no one to protect you? OR that your parents were too drunk or high to take care of you or take you to the doctor if you needed it?
Addiction within the	Did you live with anyone who was a problem drinker or alcoholic OR with
home	anyone who used illegal street drugs or abused prescription drugs?
Mental illness within the home	Did you live with anyone who was depressed or mentally ill or who was suicidal?
Lived with someone	Did you live with anyone who served time or was sentenced to serve time in a prison jail or other correctional facility?
Lack of neighborhood support	Did you feel people in your neighborhood looked out for each other, stood up for each other, and could be trusted?
Foster care	While you were growing up (during your first 18 years of life) were you ever in foster care?

Appendix B: All items comprising the Mindfulness in Couple Relationships Scale

I observe my experiences with my partner without judging.

I carefully listen to my partner when they are speaking without regard for time.

Even when it makes me uncomfortable, I allow my partner to express their feelings.

I observe my partner's emotions without judging.

My interactions with my partner are opportunities to learn new things about them.

I rush through activities with my partner without really paying attention to them. (reverse scored)

I tune into my partner when they are talking to me without regard for time.

I take time to thoughtfully be present with my partner.

I listen to my partner's ideas without judgement.

I am capable of being present in my relationship.

During arguments I accept my partner has a different point of view than I do.

I am able to purposefully participate in my relationship.

I accept my partner for who my partner is today.

I trust my abilities in my relationship.

I notice when my partner appears distracted.

Each moment with my partner is an opportunity for new or unique experiences.

I can "just be" with my partner.

I keep an open mind when talking to my partner.

I accept the positive and negative characteristics of my partner.

I easily let go of negative emotions towards my partner.

I do not try to change my partner.

I am aware when I am feeling negative towards my partner.

Negative emotions related to my partner take over my everyday thoughts. (reverse scored)

I am attentive to my partner.

After conflict I recognize when it is time to let go of negative feelings.

I get stuck in my negative emotions toward my partner. (reverse scored)

I notice my feelings toward my partner.

I notice when my partner seems upset.

I often feel unaware of my partner's thoughts and feelings. (reverse scored)

I notice when my partner makes efforts in our relationship.

I can spend time with my partner without trying to achieve a goal.